EVALUATION OF AEROBIC EXERCISE DIGITAL VIDEO DISCS (DVD) FOR USE BY NUTRITION EDUCATORS

By

KELLY M. RYAN

A thesis submitted to the Graduate School-New Brunswick

Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Graduate Program in Nutritional Sciences

Written under the direction of

Dr. Debrah Palmer

and approved by

New Brunswick, New Jersey

May 2009

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

"Evaluation of Aerobic Exercise Digital Video Discs (DVDs) for Use by Nutrition Educators"

By:

Kelly M. Ryan

Thesis Director:

Debrah M. Palmer

Obesity is disproportionately prevalent among limited-resource audiences, like participants of the New Jersey Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Education (SNAP-Ed). Physical activity is an integral component for weight management, but barriers like time constraints and a lack of space and expensive equipment often prevent this target audience from meeting national physical activity recommendations. Aerobic exercise DVDs may help ameliorate these barriers; thus, this investigation's purpose was to assess their viability for use with SNAP-Ed participants both in the classroom and at home. Five nutrition educators evaluated 124 DVDs to assess their: cast members' demographics; levels of intensity and complexity; adherence to safety guidelines and exercise recommendations; and space and equipment needs. The results of this study supported the notion that exercise DVDs may help the target audience overcome physical activity barriers in that 70 (56%) of the DVDs required no equipment, and the space requirements of all of the videos were modest.

Existing DVDs may, however, be of questionable appeal for use with SNAP-Ed participants due to a lack of racial diversity, i.e., the majority of the cast members were White, thin, adult women. Several types of DVDs, particularly "Tae Bo" and kickboxing, would likely have limited appeal for this population due to their high levels of intensity. Similarly, several types of DVDs would likely be unsuitable with regard to complexity, with belly dancing and dance aerobics workouts being rated as the most complex. Walking DVDs may be the best option for nutrition educators to recommend. They were characterized by both low intensity and complexity, yet elicited an average percent maximum heart rate for the research team of 69.88±7.37, which was consistent with national guidelines for moderate to vigorous activity. However, future research endeavors are needed to assess their feasibility with this audience.

Acknowledgements and Dedication

This research would not have been possible without the help and support of many people. First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Debrah Palmer for taking what seemed like a crazy idea and turning it into a really great project, and for the countless hours she devoted to this project to make it a success. My thesis committee, Dr. Arent and Dr. Hoffman, offered direction and guidance for which I am also very grateful.

This research never would have happened without the assistance of my dedicated research team- Diana Cangemi, Audrey Adler, and Kirsten Corda. I am eternally indebted to them for their participation in the evaluation of over a hundred exercise DVDs. Throughout this work, Diana provided me with encouragement and sincere friendship, and was always willing to lend a helping hand. I admire and thank Audrey for her patience and calming nature, in addition to her hard work and devotion to this project. I'm appreciative of Kirsten's willingness to help me overcome any barrier that was encountered along the way.

My gratitude also extends to two really special people in my life. I'm very lucky to have a friend like Lauren Neitzke, who has stood by my side through thick and thin since we were in 7th grade. I'd also like to thank Karl Lindauer for his love, understanding and support throughout the completion of this project.

Lastly, I would like to dedicate this work to my parents, grandparents, and brothers, who have spent every day of their lives teaching me the value of hard work. Thank you for giving the little girl who danced around her living room in leg warmers and a sweat band in the '80s everything she could ever ask for. I am forever grateful for your love and friendship.

iv

Table of Contents

Abstract of Thesis	ii
Acknowledgements/ Dedications	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	6
Introduction	6
Energy Balance	6
Physical Activity and Exercise	7
Physical Activity	7
Exercise	8
U.S. Prevalence of Physical Activity and Exercise Practices	9
National Physical Activity Recommendations	11
The Beneficial Effects of Physical Activity and Exercise	14
Overweight and Obesity	14
Heart Disease	17
Diabetes	18
Metabolic Syndrome	19
Cancer	19
Osteoporosis	20
The Protective Effect of Physical Activity on Well-being	21
The Role of Exercise in Overcoming Addictions	22
Group-led Exercise Programs	22
Components of Group-led Exercise Programs	23
Stretching	24
Warm-ups	26
Cool-downs	26
Cardiorespiratory Segments	26
Types of Group-led Exercise Programs and Specific Safety Considerations	27

Mixed-impact Aerobics		
Step Training	29	
Martial Arts Exercise	30	
Interventions Aimed at Increasing Physical Activity	31	
Home-based Physical Activity Interventions	32	
Community-based Physical Activity Interventions	33	
Summary	36	
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	37	
Research Protocol	37	
DVD Sample Selection	37	
Assessment Methods	39	
Group Exercise Leader Performance Appraisal Tool	40	
Body Image Instrument	42	
Rating of Perceived Exertion Scale	43	
Target, Resting, and Maximum Heart Rates	44	
DVD Constructs of Interest	44	
DVD Attributes	47	
Implementation of the Research Protocol	48	
Evaluators	48	
DVD Distribution	49	
Evaluation Protocol for DVD Assessment	49	
Data Analysis	50	
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS	51	
Introduction	51	
DVD Descriptive Information	51	
DVDs' Availability and Release/re-release Dates	52	
Types of GL-CREPs on DVDs	52	
Other DVD Characteristics	53	
Intensity, Complexity, and Fitness Level Recommendations	53	
Setting and Clothing	56	
Modifications and Floor Exercises	56	
Group Exercise Leader Demographics	57	

Overall Likeability of the Group Exercise Leaders	59
DVD Cast Member Demographics	60
Results Pertaining to Exercise DVDs' Viability for Use with Diverse, Low- income Audiences	61
Space	61
Equipment	62
Results Pertaining to DVD Exercise Standards	63
Qualified Exercise Leaders	63
Adequacy of Directions	64
Adherence to Exercise Guidelines	64
Appraisal of Group Exercise Leader Performance	65
Summary	66
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION	67
Introduction	67
DVD Use with SNAP-Ed Participants	67
Likely Appeal of Exercise DVDs for Use in SNAP-Ed Classes	67
Exercise DVDs' Potential for Overcoming Participants' Physical Activity	70
Barriers Exercise DVDs' Viability as an Appropriate Means of Performing Physical Activity	72
Study Limitations	74
CHAPTER SIX: CONCLUSIONS	77
Introduction	77
Summary of Study Findings	77
Implications for Future Research	78
Appendix I: Group Exercise Leader Performance Appraisal Tool	81
Appendix II: Questions Omitted from GEL Performance Appraisal Tool	85
Appendix III: Outcomes Of Previous Studies That Tested The Validity And Reliability Of The Assessment Instruments Used In This Investigation	87
Appendix IV: DVD Constructs of Interest Survey	89
Appendix V: DVD Attributes Survey	94
Appendix VI: DVDs Evaluated in this Investigation	96
Bibliography	99

List of Tables

Table 4.1: Number and Percent of the DVDs' Release or Re-release Dates, by Year	52
Table 4.2: Ratings of DVD Characteristics by Workout Type (Means <u>+</u> Standard Deviations)	54
Table 4.3: Research Team Heart Rate and Exertion Levels According to DVD Workout Type (Means <u>+</u> Standard Deviations)	54
Table 4.4: Ratings of DVD Characteristics According to the Featured GEL/Producer (Means <u>+</u> Standard Deviations)	55
Table 4.5: Research Team Heart Rate and Exertion Levels According to the DVDFeatured GEL or DVD Producer (Means + Standard Deviations)	56
Table 4.6: Primary Group Exercise Leaders' Body Shape by Gender	58
Table 4.7: Numbers and Percents of the Additional GELs' Body Shapes	59
Table 4.8: Overall GEL Likeability	60
Table 4.9: Numbers and Percents of the Cast Members' Body Shapes	61
Table 4.10: Space Requirements by DVD Workout Type (Number and Percent)	62
Table 4.11: Equipment Needs for DVD Workouts	62
Table 4.12: Group Exercise Leaders' (GELs) Credentials	63
Table 4.13: Length of DVDs' Warm-ups, Workouts, and Cool-downs (in minutes)	64
Table 4.14: Ratings for Instructional Techniques According to the DVDs' Featured GEL/Producer (Means <u>+</u> Standard Deviations)	65

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Age-sex-adjusted Percent of Adults Who Engaged in Regular Leisure Time Physical Activity in the United States by Race/ethnicity, 2002	10
Figure 2.2: National Cardiorespiratory Exercise Goals for Adults	12
Figure 2.3: Age-adjusted Obesity Prevalence Among Adults in the United States, January – March 2008	16
Figure 2.4: Community-based Physical Activity Interventions for Diverse, Limited-resource Audiences	33

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

One of the biggest challenges facing our nation is the myriad of disorders associated with overweight and obesity. Since moderate to vigorous physical activity is an integral component for weight management, educators working with national nutrition education programs, have been directed to integrate physical activity education into program curricula. The New Jersey Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Education initiative (SNAP-Ed), (formerly known as the Food Stamp Nutrition Education (FSNE) Program), is one of these programs. SNAP-Ed provides behaviorally-focused nutrition education to diverse, low-income audiences. Behaviorally-focused education can be defined as the provision of culturally-appropriate learning opportunities that can be practically implemented into daily lifestyles.

Although the prevalence of obesity has increased among all age and racial groups in the United States, a disproportionate prevalence has been observed among African-Americans and Hispanic populations, races that comprise the majority of SNAP-Ed participants. For example, in fiscal year 2008, 72% of NJ SNAP-Ed participants were Black and Hispanic, i.e., 46% and 26%, respectively. One explanation for the increased prevalence of overweight and obesity may be attributed to low physical activity levels among these populations. To that end, effective strategies for mobilizing SNAP-Ed's target population to engage in more moderate to vigorous physically active were needed.

In previous pilot focus groups performed to identify physical activity preferences and exercise barriers among diverse, urban, low-income adults, revealed that only a small fraction of those interviewed engaged in leisure time activities that were likely to raise their heart rates, such as basketball and walking. Most of those interviewed considered the physical labor they performed at work and at home to constitute sufficient activity.¹ The work and home activities described did seem as if they would have been exhausting and/or strenuous, e.g. mopping, heavy lifting, or providing daycare. However, the activities were not exemplary of those likely to cause heart rate increases sufficient for optimal health benefits or caloric expenditure adequate for weight loss.

In addition to focus group participants' perceptions that additional activity was not needed, many barriers to physical activity were revealed, e.g., lack of acclimation to New Jersey's climate, long work hours, childcare issues, physical disabilities, and lifestyle conflicts like smoking and alcoholism.¹ Health education topics, such as smoking cessation and alcoholism abstinence, are outside the purview of SNAP-Ed programs, but in considering the remaining findings, it was determined that the use of exercise digital video discs (DVDs) may ameliorate the other barriers.

Exercise DVDs are performed indoors, thus eliminating barriers associated with climate concerns; they are performed at home, so childcare issues are resolved; and many offer short 10 to 15-minute segments that can accommodate hectic schedules and long work hours. It was also determined that low to moderate intensity DVDs, or those offering simple

modifications, might be suitable for overweight SNAP-Ed program participants, as well as some individuals with physical disabilities, e.g. those with knee problems.

Further, exercise DVDs are inexpensive and include aerobic, strength, and flexibility components. They also require little, if any, exercise equipment and minimal space; and, can be done in a comfortable environment, i.e., the home, church, a community center, or a nutrition education classroom. Additionally, DVD players can be purchased for a very minimal cost, and the extensive variety available on the market may alleviate some of the boredom that many experience when engaging in the same exercise routine day after day. Exercise DVDs were deemed to be viable exercise options for SNAP-Ed Program participants who inhabited small dwellings, had limited budgets, and who lived in neighborhoods where it was potentially unsafe to exercise outside; however, their viability in terms of their appeal for classroom use was unknown.

Thus, this thesis documents an evaluation of aerobic exercise DVDs and their potential for use among diverse, limited-resource audiences. However, in the event that the DVDs were not deemed appropriate for this target audience, the investigation was further intent on assessing their viability for use by nutritionists/dietitians who were required to make recommendations for moderate to vigorous physical activity to the general public. The DVDs analyzed in this work were determined to be easily accessible by an urban, limitedresource community in 2006, as they were found at retail outlets commonly frequented by the community's low-income residents. DVDs evaluated were timely, in that those included in the sample were required to have exhibited release or re-release dates that were between 2000 and 2005.

It was hypothesized that most aerobic exercise DVDs available for purchase on the market would have questionable appeal for use in SNAP-Ed classes but that they would be sufficient for overcoming target audience physical activity barriers and they would provide safe instruction. More specifically, it was hypothesized that available DVDs would:

- Have questionable appeal for use in SNAP-Ed classes due to:
 - → A lack of racial, body size, age, and gender diversity among the DVD cast members and exercise leaders;
 - \rightarrow The use of highly intense and complex activities;
 - → Requirements to engage in exercise activities that cannot be performed in the classroom setting; and,
 - \rightarrow The provision of insufficient modifications for the less fit.
- Be sufficient for overcoming target audience physical activity barriers as they:
 - \rightarrow Required modest space and equipment needs; and,
 - → Were designed to be performed at home, or in other comfortable and accessible settings where childcare is unnecessary.
- Be characterized by:
 - \rightarrow Qualified exercise leaders;

- → Effective teaching methods, e.g. proper timing of instruction, demonstrates proper rhythm, provides encouragement, etc.;
- \rightarrow Activities rigorously sufficient for target heart rates to be reached;
- \rightarrow Workout durations which could easily be incorporated into daily routines; and,
- → Routines/exercises that met the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) exercise guidelines.

It was also hypothesized that, a team of nutrition educators would judge the DVDs similarly, i.e., there would be a high rate of inter-rater reliability on all aspects of the evaluation.

Despite any potential DVD short-comings, in terms of meeting target audience needs, it was expected that many DVDs would be appropriate for use with other audiences. Thus, an additional study aim was to identify the best use for DVDs that did not meet SNAP-Ed needs; and, to provide a descriptive account of those DVDs for nutritionists required to make recommendations to other audiences such that they meet appropriate physical activity guidelines.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

This literature review opens with a description of: energy balance; the terms exercise and physical activity; and, Americans' current participation rates in exercise regimens. This section also provides a review of national exercise goals and current exercise recommendations; the health benefits of regular exercise; and, the physical activity levels and health disparities common to limited-resource populations. Prior to designing a study to evaluate aerobic exercise DVDs and their potential for use among diverse, limited-resource audiences, it was also prudent to examine the characteristics and success of published investigations that had stated, similar aims. The review of these findings served as the basis for this investigation.

Energy Balance

Body weight and composition are influenced by energy balance. In healthy individuals, excess energy is stored, thus causing weight gain, when caloric intake from food exceeds caloric expenditure. Caloric expenditure is affected by an individual's basal metabolic rate (BMR), the thermic effect of food (TEF), non-exercise activity thermogenesis (NEAT), and physical activity.^{2, 3} BMR accounts for approximately 60% of daily energy expenditure, and refers to the energy used as the body performs the biochemical processes necessary to sustain life. TEF accounts for 10 to 15% of daily energy expenditure, and is that which is utilized during the digestion, absorption, and storage of food. NEAT is the energy expended for activities other than digestion, sleeping, or physical activity, such as fidgeting, typing, or

walking to work.² Physical activity, the focus of this investigation, is a component of energy outputs, and can assist in reducing the amount of energy stored in individuals as excess weight.

Physical Activity and Exercise

Despite key differences in their definitions, the terms physical activity and exercise are often used interchangeably to describe human movement; however, researchers and the government define these terms differently.⁴ Physical activity is defined as any bodily movement produced by the contraction of skeletal muscle that increases energy expenditure above a basal level. Exercise is defined as a subcategory of physical activity that is planned, structured, and repetitive.

Physical Activity

Physical activity categories include: occupational, leisure-time, household, self-care, and transportation or commuting activities. Leisure-time physical activities include: exercise, recreation, sports, or hobbies that are not associated with one's daily routine. Traditional work and leisure-time activities are physical activities, but they may not constitute viable exercises since they are often not performed in a planned, structured, or repetitive manner, and may not be adequately intense for losing and maintaining weight, or achieving optimal health or fitness outcomes.

Two levels of physical activity intensity, i.e., moderate and vigorous, have been recognized by the 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans to define how these aims can be met.⁴ These Guidelines suggest that American adults engage in either 150 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity each week or 75 minutes a week of vigorous intensity physical activity, or an equivalent combination of moderate and vigorous intensity activity. These intensity levels were determined using absolute intensity, i.e., the amount of energy expended per minute of activity. Moderate intensity activities were defined as those that expended 3.0 to 5.9 times the amount of energy expended at rest, whereas vigorous intensity activities were defined as those that expended 6.0 or more times the energy expended at rest. The Guidelines translated this science to the public by stating that a person doing moderate intensity aerobic activity could talk but not sing during the activity, and that a person doing vigorous intensity activity would be incapable of saying more than a few words without pausing for a breath.⁴

Exercise

Exercise is a subcategory of physical activity involving actions that are "purposely intense." It is purposive in the sense that it is planned movement aimed at improving or maintaining physical fitness, physical performance, or health and including one or more components of physical fitness, i.e., cardiorespiratory endurance, muscular strength, muscular endurance, optimum body composition, and flexibility, is the objective.⁴ To meet these objectives, exercise movements are repetitive. Thus, when people exercise they are engaging in a type of physical activity; but, when people are physically active, they are not necessarily exercising.

Since the aim of the work described in this thesis was to examine a potential means of encouraging people to engage in moderate to vigorous, purposeful, repetitive movement, via the use of DVDs, the term "exercise" is more appropriate to the work described herein. Therefore, the term "exercise" will be used when describing this investigation.

U.S. Prevalence of Physical Activity and Exercise Practices

According to the Healthy People 2010 database, in 2006, 39% of adults in the US engaged in no leisure time physical activity, 31% engaged in moderate physical activity, and only 22% engaged in vigorous physical activity. The Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) 2000 data revealed that approximately 27% of U.S. adults were physically inactive, while according to the 2005 Dietary Guidelines for Americans committee report, 38% of Americans engaged in no leisure-time physical activity in 2002.⁵

Healthy People 2010 statistics were particularly alarming among African American and Hispanic adults.⁶ Specifically, 48% of African American adults and 53% of Hispanic adults engaged in no leisure time activity; only one quarter of African American adults and 23% of Hispanic adults engaged in moderate physical activity; and only 18% of African American adults and 16% of Hispanic adults engaged in vigorous activity. Other sources found that among Black women (45%),⁷ and Mexican American men and women,⁸ another 28.2% did not participate in regular physical activity.⁹

Figure 2.1, shown below, shows the age and sex-adjusted percent of adults in the United States who participated in regular leisure-time physical activity in 2002. Whereas 34.9% of

non-Hispanic white adults participated were regularly active, only 22.7% and 25.4% for Hispanic adults and non-Hispanic Black adults, respectively, participated in regular, leisure time physical activity.¹⁰



Healthy People 2010 also found disproportionately low levels of physical activity among adults with low education levels.⁶ Further, 67% of adults who completed a maximum of an 8th grade education engaged in no leisure time activity.¹¹

National Physical Activity Recommendations

Physical activity recommendations in terms of frequency, duration, or intensity have been developed to provide guidance for Americans. Examples of the recommendations that were made by the Dietary Guidelines for Americans, Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans, U.S. Healthy People 2010, and the American College of Sports Medicine are shown in Figure 2.2

Figure 2.2: National Cardiorespiratory Exercise Goals for Adults						
	Dietary Guidelines for Americans (2005) ⁵	Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans	Healthy People 2010 (2010) ¹²	American College of Sports Medicine		
All adults	≥ 30 minutes of moderate- intensity activity most days of the week	(2008)** 150 minutes/week moderate- intensity activity, or 75 minutes vigorous- intensity, or mix of moderate/ vigorous intensity activity	At least 30 minutes per day of moderate- intensity activity	(2006) ^{13, 14} 20-60 minutes, 40 to 50% to 85% of VO ₂ R, 3- 5 days/week		
Prevention of weight gain	~60 minutes of moderate- to vigorous- intensity activity, most days of the week	150-300 minutes/week of moderate- intensity activity	None	150-250 minutes/week of moderate intensity activity		
Sustain weight loss	at least 60 to 90 minutes of daily moderate- intensity physical activity	>300 minutes a week of moderate- intensity activity	None	>250 minutes/week of moderate intensity activity		
Weight loss	None	>300 minutes a week of moderate- intensity (for weight loss ≥ 5% of body weight)	None	150-250 minutes/week of moderate intensity activity for modest weight loss; >250 minutes/week of moderate intensity activity for clinically significant weight loss		

*The Centers for Disease Control provide the same recommendations.(¹¹⁵)

In addition to the Dietary Guidelines listed above, the Guidelines stated that greater health gains could be obtained by performing more vigorous intensity exercise, or being active for longer durations. With regard to preventing weight gain and sustaining weight loss, the Dietary Guidelines also noted that the above exercise recommendations should not be performed to a level that exceeds caloric intake requirements. Also in addition to that which is presented in Figure 2.2, the Physical Activity Guidelines stated that their recommendations for sustaining weight loss or losing weight were necessary, unless caloric intake was also reduced. They did not, however, suggest the level of reduction in exercise they would recommend in correspondence with any specific degree of caloric reduction. Of note, only two of these agencies made specific recommendations for the amount of exercise needed for weight loss. The Physical Activity Guidelines Committee Report denoted that to make such recommendations large scale studies in this area need to be conducted.

With regard to the to the physical activity recommendations set, only the U.S. Healthy People 2010 set goals for meeting them. These goals were to:

- reduce the proportion of adults who engaged in no leisure-time physical activity from 40% to 20% (22-1);
- increase the proportion of adults who engaged regularly, preferably daily, in moderate physical activity for at least 30 minutes per day from 15% to 30% (22-2); and,
- increase the proportion of adults who engaged in vigorous physical activity to three or more days per week for 20 or more minutes per occasion, from 23% to 30% (22-3).

Varying national physical activity recommendations have been developed by numerous agencies and organizations committed to public health. Notably, these recommendations differ and are scarce with regard to weight loss and weight maintenance.

The Beneficial Effects of Physical Activity and Exercise

Exercise is a therapeutic modality for health maintenance, e.g. risk reduction for overweight and obesity, heart disease, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, cancer, and osteoporosis. Exercise has also been shown to aid in the alleviation of symptoms associated with disease treatment, improve emotional well-being and aid in overcoming addiction. The following is a review summarizing the effects of physical activity and exercise on the conditions mentioned above.

Overweight and Obesity

2007 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) data revealed that the states of Alabama, Mississippi, and Tennessee exhibited a prevalence of obesity greater than or equal to 30%, and 30 states demonstrated obesity prevalences that were greater than or equal to 25%. The state of Colorado was the only state that exhibited an obesity prevalence of less than 20%.¹⁶

Earlier BRFSS data revealed that from 1991 to 2001 the percentage of obese adults in the U.S. increased 74%, bringing the total number of obese adults in 2001 to an estimated 44.3 million.¹⁷ In the same time frame, the percentage of overweight adult BRFSS participants climbed from 45% to 58%.¹⁷ Further, data showed that while nearly 73% of respondents reported they were trying to lose or maintain weight, only 17.5% reported they were eating

fewer calories and increasing their physical activity levels and, among these, only 40.6% reported they were meeting the physical activity guidelines of 30 minutes of moderate exercise five times a week.⁹

Among racial groups, Blacks had the highest rate of obesity in 2001.¹⁷ According to 2007 BRFSS data, obesity prevalence was still the highest for non-Hispanic black women (39%) followed by non-Hispanic black men (32.1%).¹⁸ Among women, NHANES data showed that the rise in obesity rates in women were the greatest for non-Hispanic Black women,¹⁹ with 53.2% of those aged 40- 59 years, having been obese, and 81.5% overweight. Second to Black women were Hispanic women, with 48.5% of those aged 40- 59 years having been categorized as obese, and 79.3% having been overweight. White women were the leanest, with 34.2% of those aged 40- 59 years having been obese and 51% overweight).¹⁹

Figure 2.3, shown below, shows the age-adjusted prevalence of obesity among adults ages 20 and over in the United States from January through March 2008.²⁰ The figure demonstrates that non-Hispanic white women were less likely to be obese than either Hispanic women or non-Hispanic Black women. With regard to obese males, Hispanic men are more likely to be obese than non-Hispanic white men.



Figure 2.3: Age-adjusted Obesity Prevalence Among Adults in the United States,

Obesity interventions, encompassing studies regarding the prevention of weight gain, weight loss, and the maintenance of long-term weight loss, have been performed that show the value of exercise in obesity control. Although limited work has been done in the area of weight gain prevention, it has been examined by some, particularly via the Pound of Prevention Study.^{21, 22} Both intervention studies identified showed some success. In the Pound of Prevention Study, participants were given a monthly newsletter which emphasized physical activity, mostly in the form of walking. Results showed that exercise, along with weighing

frequency, significantly correlated with weight gain prevention at the 0.01 level, with energy intake correlating at the 0.05 level. In the second study, a longitudinal study conducted with Caucasian adults (n=294), greater participation in work, sport, and leisure time activity at baseline was associated with less weight gain over a two year period.²¹ Some studies have shown that aerobic exercise may promote modest short-term weight loss,^{23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28} while a wide body of literature supports the role of exercise in the maintenance of long-term weight loss.^{29, 30,31, 32, 33, 34} Physical activity interventions, some of which focused on weight loss, are discussed in further detail below.

Based on research findings that evaluate the association of weight and health, markers for the correlates of healthy weight and body shape have been established. To determine if an individual's weight is healthy, the BMI is often used, i.e., it is used in all federal body size guidelines.^{5, 12} BMI is a mathematical formula, i.e. the ratio of an individual's mass in kilograms divided by their height in meters squared, that uses correlates with adiposity or fatness, and has been proven to be as reliable as more expensive and less easy-to-perform measures like hydrostatic weighing and dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA).^{35, 36} The National Institutes of Health (NIH) clinical guidelines classify individuals with a BMI of 25.0- 29.9 as overweight and individuals with a BMI of 30 or greater as obese.³⁷

Heart Disease

The leading cause of death in the United States is heart disease. Even modest levels of physical activity have been shown to significantly decrease heart disease risk,^{38, 39} and ameliorate those conditions related to greater risk that are discussed below. ^{40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46}

17

The conditions related to coronary artery disease (CAD) and heart attacks that are positively affected by physical activity include:

- elevated blood pressure (systolic blood pressure ≥ 140 mm Hg and/or a diastolic blood pressure ≥ 90 mm Hg), i.e. hypertension;^{47, 48}
- elevated triglycerides ($\geq 150 \text{ mg/dL}$);^{49, 50}
- high total cholesterol levels ($\geq 200 \text{ mg/dL}$);^{49, 50}
- decreased levels of high density lipoproteins (HDL) (≤ 40 mg/dL for men or ≤ 50 mg/dL for women);^{51, 52, 53, 54}
- increased levels of low density lipoproteins (LDL) ($\geq 100 \text{ mg/dL}$);^{49, 50} or,
- an elevated total cholesterol to HDL ratio above 5:1.(⁵⁵)

Heart disease mortality risks were also lower in obese, fit men than in lean, unfit men.⁵⁶ Overall, a physically active lifestyle may reduce cardiovascular disease risk and may also lower risk factors for this disease, including compromised lipid panels and hypertension.

<u>Diabetes</u>

Diabetes is one of the leading causes of death and disability in the US, with type 2 diabetes accounting for the majority of cases.⁵⁷ Blacks had the highest rate of diagnosed diabetes among all race groups.¹⁷ Adults with less than a high school education had the highest rate of diabetes among all educational levels.¹⁷

A number of studies have examined the relationship between type 2 diabetes and physical activity. Obese, type 2 diabetics have been shown to exhibit a decrease in blood glucose

levels immediately after mild to moderate exercise.^{58, 59, 60} Studies have also shown that insulin sensitivity improves with exercise in type 2 diabetics.^{61, 62, 63, 64} These post-exercise effects are temporary, thus regular physical activity at a low to moderate intensity, is recommended for type 2 diabetics to sustain these glucose reductions and to improve insulin sensitivity long-term.^{65, 58}

Metabolic Syndrome

Metabolic syndrome, or Syndrome X, is related to the conditions discussed above, as it is a disease characterized by hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes risk factors that, together, increase the risk of type 2 diabetes, coronary artery disease (CAD), and premature mortality.⁶⁶ Physical activity has proven to be a successful treatment strategy for patients diagnosed with metabolic syndrome.^{66, 67} Evidence has also suggested that, compared to less active individuals, more active men and women have lower rates of metabolic syndrome.⁴

Cancer

Regular physical activity can help prevent cancer, a major public health threat in the United States.⁶⁸ Over 565,000 cancer-related deaths were anticipated in 2008, with about one-third of these expected to be related to physical inactivity, overweight or obesity, or poor nutrition.⁶⁹ By lowering circulating insulin levels, improving energy metabolism, and contributing to the maintenance of a healthy weight, physical activity serves to significantly reduce the risk of several types of cancers. Regular physical activity has important implications for the prevention of colon cancer, as activity increases the transit time of food through the small intestine, thereby reducing the amount of time which the bowel comes into

contact with potential carcinogens.⁶⁹ Vigorous physical activity can also decrease the exposure of breast tissue to circulating estrogen, thereby reducing breast cancer risk.⁶⁹ On average, individuals who participate in three to four hours a week of moderate or vigorous intensity physical activity have a 30% lower colon cancer risk and a 20% to 40% reduction in breast cancer risk compared with sedentary individuals.⁴

The benefits of exercise also extend to patients diagnosed with cancer. Studies of exercise in cancer patients have demonstrated the positive effects of exercise on physical well-being, fatigue, and quality of life during treatment as well as post-treatment.^{70, 71, 72, 73}

Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is a disease characterized by low bone mass and deterioration of bone tissue, which increase susceptibility to bone fracture risk. Fractures of the vertebrae and hip are common among individuals with low bone mass, and can often be deadly. Millions of Americans are at risk for developing osteoporosis, with women being four times more likely than men to develop the disease.⁷⁴ Peak bone mineral accrual rates occur during puberty, thus allowing for maximum bone mineral density (BMD) to be achieved during this time.⁷⁵ Decreasing estrogen concentrations after menopause can cause a decline in BMD, thus putting post-menopausal women at even greater risk of osteoporosis.⁷⁶

Weight-bearing and muscle-strengthening exercise is crucial to the prevention of osteoporosis. According to the ACSM, the primary goal of physical activity in adulthood should be to maintain bone mass.⁷⁷ Physical activity plays a critical role in maximizing bone

mass during childhood and early adult years, which maintains bone mass through one's fifties, thereby attenuating bone loss with aging, and reducing the number of falls and fractures in the elderly.⁷⁷ Although again, weight-bearing and muscle-strengthening exercise is crucial to the prevention of osteoporosis and BMD values tend to be highest in athletes who have participated in sports involving high-intensity loading forces, e.g., weight lifting, and body building, and lowest in athletes who participate in non–weight bearing sports such as swimming,⁷⁷ Because of the stress they place on the skeleton, and thus the positive influence they exert on bone mineral accretion, aerobic activities, such as running and jumping also reduce risk for osteoporosis.⁷⁸

The Protective Effect of Physical Activity on Well-being

The relationship between symptoms of depression and physical activity is presently unclear. Some studies have reported a direct link between participation in physical activity and improvement of depressive symptoms.^{79, 80, 81, 82, 83} However, one study suggested that these improvements may have been attributed to the social support and interaction that comes with group exercise, rather than the exercise itself.⁸⁴ In NHANES I, people who reported little or no physical activity and few depressive symptoms at baseline were twice as likely to report symptoms of depression than those who participated in moderate or vigorous physical activity at eight years follow-up.⁸⁵ Physical activity has also been shown to reduce feelings of depression in older adults.^{86, 87}

The Role of Exercise in Overcoming Addictions

Some studies have shown a positive relationship between abstinence from alcohol and smoking, and participation in physical activity.^{88, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93} In addition to the more general relationship between exercise and addiction abstinence, with regard to smoking it has also been shown to reduce one perceived barrier to smoking cessation, i.e., weight gain.^{89, 90, 91, 92}

In summary, a wide range of studies have shown that exercise can aid in the prevention and treatment of multiple diseases and health conditions.

Group-led Exercise Programs

Applied exercise programming can focus on muscular training, cardiorespiratory exercise, or flexibility programs.⁵ Programs can be offered as individual training or as group-led programs. There are various types of cardiorespiratory exercise programs (CREP), e.g., mixed-impact aerobics, step training, martial arts exercise, water fitness, and indoor cycling.⁹⁴ Aerobic exercise DVDs are designed as group-led CREP (GL-CREP), as they do not account for individuals' needs. Only mixed-impact aerobics, step training, and martial arts programs will be reviewed, as these are the program types that appear on aerobic DVDs. This portion of the literature review focuses on: the general guidelines for GL-CREP; as well as, the characteristics and guidelines specific to mixed-impact aerobics, step training, and martial arts programs.

Popular GL-CREP are alike in that they are created around a musical background.⁹⁴ The musical background serves two purposes: 1) to set the pace, and 2) to function as a source of

motivation. The music is arranged in measures of four beats, and includes emphasized beats called the downbeat, and deemphasized moves called the upbeat. It is played at a volume that doesn't prevent the participants from being able to hear the class instructor.

Components of Group-led Exercise Programs

GL-CREP are a type of cardiorespiratory program, as cardiorespiratory programs use large muscle groups in a rhythmic and aerobic manner. They can be designed to account for participants' ages and skill levels, as well as each program's overall goals.⁹⁴ Although recommendations for conducting CREP are available from a number of reputable sources, e.g., the American Council on Exercise (ACE); the Alliance for Health, Physical Education, Recreation, and Dance (AAHPERD); and, the Aerobics and Fitness Association of America (AFAA), they are largely drawn from those outlined by the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM). The ACSM is the largest exercise science organization in the world,⁹⁵ and is well respected among professionals in the field, which is evidenced by its strong presence in the development of the 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans, and its multiple partnerships with the National Institutes of Health (NIH), Centers for Disease Control (CDC), and the American Heart Association (AHA).⁹⁶

In 2006, the ACSM recommended that CREP ranging in duration from 20 to 80 minutes be performed three to five days a week. The ACSM guidelines suggested that each CREP include stretching, and three distinct workout sections:

- a five to ten minute warm-up;
- a 20 to 60 minute cardiorespiratory segment; and,

• a four to ten minute cool-down.

Stretching. The ACSM has traditionally recommended that stretching be performed at the end of the warm-up and cool-down segments of CREP, and can be done in standing or seated positions, or lying down.⁹⁷ With regard to placement of stretching segments, studies have provided conflicting evidence on this topic, with many concluding that stretching at the end of warm-ups and cool-downs of CREP does not prevent muscle injury and soreness as was once thought.^{98, 99, 100, 101} Further, stretching may be completely unnecessary after warm-ups for two reasons. First, warm-ups included in CREP have been shown to raise body temperature and thereby increase flexibility, perhaps more significantly or equal to stretching.^{102, 103, 104, 105} Secondly, stretching prior to warming the muscles has been shown to increase the risk of injury.¹⁰⁶ Overall, at the writing of this work, there was insufficient evidence to conclusively advise the promotion or discontinuation of stretching in both warm-ups and cool-downs. However, if stretching is used at the end of warm-ups, it should be conducted only after the muscles to be included in the workout have been sufficiently warmed.^{94, 107}

There are several different methods of stretching, such as: static, dynamic, proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation (PNF) and ballistic stretching. Static stretching is when tension is applied to a muscle toward the end of the joint's range of motion, held for a period of at least ten seconds, and the process is repeated after a 20 to 30 second rest period.⁹⁴ This has been cited as the most common method of stretching, and, when done correctly, has been deemed appropriate and effective for all individuals.¹⁰⁸ Although individuals who are beginning an

exercise program may see improvements in flexibility with static stretching lasting ten seconds, greater gains have been observed with stretches lasting periods of at least 30 seconds.^{109, 110}

Dynamic stretching utilizes sport-specific, controlled movements, and is often used by athletes to prepare for a specific event.^{94, 107} The moves are exaggerations of the actual movements, i.e., a runner may perform a walk where they bring their knees up very high in order to stretch their legs.

PNF stretching involves alternating between isometric muscle contraction and passive, i.e., assisted, stretching through a designated series of motions. It is often perceived as complicated and generally requires the help of an experienced trainer and/or the use of equipment like a towel or resistance band.^{108, 111} Some studies have shown that PNF stretching is superior to the other forms of stretching in terms of increasing flexibility;¹¹² however, due its complicated nature it is not usually used in GL-CREP.

Ballistic stretching includes forceful, quick bouncing movements that momentarily increase the joint's range of motion. Caution should be taken when using ballistic stretching, as it has a potential for increased injury.^{94, 108}

The ACSM recommends that static and PNF stretching methods be integrated into CREP, as dynamic stretching is explicit to specific sports, and the risk associated with ballistic stretching is controversial.⁹⁴

Warm-ups. Warm-ups have been defined as a combination of rhythmic movements, advancing in a logical progression from full-body general movements to more specific muscle-joint isolation exercises, e.g., shoulder circles or neck rotations, and gradually increasing in both the intensity and complexity of the moves. The full-body exercises mimic the movements to be performed in the subsequent workout, but are executed at much lower levels of intensity.⁹⁴ Full-body movements serve to increase: blood flow to the working muscles; the speed of nerve impulses; and, the delivery rate of oxygen and energy to the working muscles.¹¹³ Warming-up has been shown to decrease the likelihood of muscle tearing by increasing the elasticity of the working muscles.¹¹⁴ During the warm-up the instructor is also to demonstrate how to correctly execute the moves which will be performed during the workout.

Cool-downs. CREP should include cool-downs that focus on bringing the body toward a resting, pre-exercise state, and improving the muscles' flexibility and the joints' range of motion. Cooling down after a workout helps prevent an unsafe drop in blood pressure by helping to prevent pooling of the blood in the arms and legs.⁹⁴ Additionally, a cool-down or the stretching at its conclusion can be designed to relax the mind from daily stressors. This section should include slow-moving rhythmical bodily movements similar to those completed in the warm-up.

Cardiorespiratory Segments. Cardiorespiratory (aerobic) segments should last at least 20 to 60 minutes. This can be done in one continuous segment or via intermittent aerobic activities throughout the day that add up to 20 to 60 minutes.⁹⁴ Intermittent cardiorespiratory segments

that last at least ten minutes have been shown to provide improvements in cardiovascular fitness comparable to longer, continuous cardiorespiratory segments.^{31, 115, 116, 117} The intensity of the exercise was to correspond at the low end to between 55% and 65%, and at the high end, up to 90% of maximum heart rate.⁹⁴ The National Institutes of Health (NIH) recommended that the heart rate be raised during exercise to between 70% and 85%, based on an age-adjusted formula, i.e., (220 - age)*.70 to (220-age)*.85).¹¹⁸

To summarize, well-designed GL-CREP like mixed-impact aerobics, step training, and martial arts exercise should include stretching, as well as warm-ups, cardiorespiratory segments, and cool-downs.

Types of Group-led Exercise Programs and Specific Safety Considerations

As previously mentioned, there are various types of CREP, e.g., mixed-impact aerobics, step training, martial arts exercise, water fitness, and indoor cycling.⁹⁴ However, since mixed-impact aerobics, step training, and martial arts programs are those primarily featured on DVDs, only these types of CREP will be discussed below. The participants' safety should be among the instructor's primary goals, thus specific recommendations for safety during each of these programs is detailed as well.

Mixed-impact Aerobics. Mixed-impact aerobic programs, a type of popular GL-CREP, are done as either high impact or low-impact aerobic movements, or a mix of the two. Low-impact movements, e.g., step touches and side lunges, place a minimal amount of stress on the lower extremities, as compared to higher-impact movements, e.g., running and jumping.
Some mixed-impact aerobic programs alternate between high and low-impact segments with every song, while others combine high and low-impact segments into each part of the choreography. The routines in mixed-impact aerobic programs are usually choreographed to music at a pace of 130 to 150 beats per minute (bpm).⁹⁴

More women than men tend to participate in mixed-impact aerobics, which may be attributed to the dance-like moves that are often used in conjunction with the music used in these programs.¹¹⁹ However, both men and women can gain health benefits by participating in this type of CREP.

A strong advantage of this type of class program is that by altering the movements' speed or range of motion, changing the amount of traveling completed within a movement, or changing the vertical direction of the movement, it can be easily modified for individuals of varying fitness levels.^{94, 119} The CREP instructor should tailor the workout to the fitness levels of the participants. Notably, this type of program can be designed to suit the needs of individuals of varying fitness levels to participate in the same group-led exercise program, if the exercise leader instructs the participants to continue at the low-impact level if they're not comfortable at the high-impact level.¹¹⁹

To ensure safety, both overall recommendations and recommendations specific to individual moves and GL-CREP type have been developed. Regarding overall safety recommendations, in addition to those previously mentioned in terms of length of segments and stretching, the overall safety recommendations made for mixed-impact GL-CREP are

identical, i.e., instructors are advised to frequently have the participants monitor their heart rates or rate their perceived exertion with the RPE scale,¹²⁰ as all participants should be encouraged to exercise at their own preferred intensity.^{94, 119} Thus, if necessary participants can be advised participants to march in place when moves become too challenging.¹¹⁹ Since these recommendations are universal, they will not be discussed below with regard to the other GL-CREP programs; nor will those associated with the specific moves described below.

Step Training. Step training is a type of popular group-led exercise program that offers lowimpact exercise that can be used to provide higher-intensity aerobic conditioning for participants. Step training utilizes a step platform, which often has an adjustable height of four to 12 inches, and a stepping surface that is 14 inches wide to 42 inches long. It is recommended that step training programs be performed at a slower pace than mixed-impact aerobics, 118 to 128 bpm.⁹⁴ In addition to the methods used in mixed-impact aerobics to increase exercise intensity, the intensity of these workouts can be modified by altering the height of the step.⁹⁴ For safety sake, to lower the intensity of this type of workout the instructor can advise participants to stop stepping and to perform the moves on the ground.¹¹⁹ Additionally, with regard to maximizing safety during step training instructors should tell their participants to:

- Alternate their leading foot throughout the workout;
- Step entirely on the top part of the step, and avoid having any part of their food to lie off the edge;
- Always look at the step platform before stepping onto it;

- Change the leading foot to prevent overstressing one leg;
- Avoid performing more than five movements in a row on one leg;
- Seek medical attention if they experience knee pain after step training; and,
- Avoid arm movements at or above the shoulder for long lengths of time.⁹⁴

Martial Arts Exercise. Martial arts exercise is a type of popular GL-CREP that includes the cardio-kickboxing programs found on DVDs. It employs moves like kicks, punches, jabs and jumping rope (usually without a rope). Some of these programs utilize a form of "shadow boxing" which requires no equipment, while others incorporate martial arts equipment like boxing gloves or punching bags. Most of these programs are performed at a moderate musical pace ranging from 120 to 138 bpm.⁹⁴

Safety requires that beginners have mastered the basic kickboxing moves before progressing to more advanced moves.⁹⁴ Since the moves are often abrupt and include controlled snapping movements, attention to the form of movements is imperative, as is the choice of music, in terms of it not being too fast. Additionally, martial arts instructors should advise their participants to:

- Ensure that the elbow does not go past its normal range of motion when performing upper body strikes and jabs;
- Avoid combinations of upper body strikes with lower body kicks;
- Avoid performing more than 10 repetitions of any martial arts move consecutively;

- Turn their toes out slightly and flex the knee of the supporting leg when kicking; and,
- Punch from the body and not just from the shoulders.⁹⁴

There are a variety of GL-CREP available for purchase on DVD, including mixed-impact aerobics, step training, martial arts exercise. Instructors of these programs should pay specific attention to participants' safety during GL-CREP.

Interventions Aimed at Increasing Physical Activity

At the writing of this work, an abundance of physical activity interventions that had been used and evaluated with the general population were found in the literature.^{121, 122, 123, 124} However, the focus of this study was to examine DVDs that could be used as an intervention for limited-resource audiences, and a paucity of these interventions exist. It is unlikely that interventions developed for use with the general public would be successful if used with culturally diverse or low-income populations, as their study designs would not account for the specific barriers that affect this population. Thus, only those interventions that targeted culturally diverse or low-income populations, and that were published between 1989 and 2008, were reviewed and are described herein. These interventions are divided into those that employed a home-based approach, and those that employed a community-oriented approach.

Home-based Physical Activity Interventions

Home-based approaches to increasing physical activity have been evaluated and documented in the literature.^{125, 126, 127} Of the three interventions identified, one was implemented via the use of the telephone,¹²⁷ one by mail,¹²⁶ or and one using both telephone and mail.¹²⁵

The Stanford-Lockheed Exercise Study used a telephone intervention alone to provide a 24week based program with 120 healthy men and women.¹²⁷ The participants were instructed to perform moderate-intensity exercise at home five days a week, and their progress was monitored via bi-weekly telephone calls from the research staff. The intervention group showed high exercise adherence rates, i.e., 90% for the men and 75% for the women. Greater gains in physical fitness, as measured by VO₂ max, were also observed in the intervention group, i.e., 15% for the men and 9% for the women ($p \le 0.01$).¹²⁷

The mail-based intervention included only a single mailing, and reported that the experimental group of participants who received physical activity materials self-reported greater levels of physical activity after one month than the control group.¹²⁶

Project WALK was an intervention aimed at the promotion of walking among sedentary, ethnic minority women, utilized a both a telephone and mail-based approach. Telephone counseling was provided six times over an eight week period, with additional mail materials. Both the two and five month follow-up results were statistically significant in terms of selfreported increases in total minutes spent walking per week. At thirty- months, results remained positive, but were no longer statistically significant.¹²⁵ Of note, only the Stanford-Lockheed Exercise Study¹²⁷ used physiological measures to assess changes in physical activity, the others used only self-reported behavioral data. Further, other than the Stanford-Lockheed Exercise Study, the intensity of educational delivery was minimal. Thus, although improvement was noted in all three investigations, only the Stanford-Lockheed Exercise Study was scientifically sound, which suggests that additional research in this area is needed for conclusive results that validate the use of in-home interventions with limited-resource audiences.

Community-based Physical Activity Interventions

Published community-based physical activity interventions have been implemented in multiple community settings, i.e., churches, medical clinics/hospitals, and community or recreation centers.^{26, 27, 28, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, 137} Eight of the interventions, that are illustrative of these types of interventions, are summarized in Figure 2.4.

Intervention	Target	Duration	Type of	Dietary	Significant
	Audience		Exercise	Component	Outcomes
Baltimore	Female	8 weeks; 2	"Supervised"	Yes	Reductions in
Church High	church	hour	group-led; no		weight and blood
Blood	members	sessions/week	details provided		pressure
Pressure	(98%				
Program ¹³²	Black)				
Project Joy ²⁸	African	1 year; 1	30 minutes	Yes	Weight loss (1.1
	American	session/week	moderate-		lbs); Waist
	women <u>></u>		intensity		circumference
	40 years of		activity		(-0.66 in);
	age		(walking, water		Systolic blood
			aerobics, or Tae		pressure (-1.66
			Kwan Do);		mmHg)
			Group-led		

Figure 2.4: Community-based Physical Activit	y Interventions for Diverse,	Limited-resource
Audiences		

Intervention	Target	Duration	Type of	Dietary	Significant
	Audience		Exercise	Component	Outcomes
Physical Activity for Risk Reduction (PARR) Project ¹³⁴	Birmingham, Alabama public housing residents (99% African American)	3 years; Exact number of sessions unclear	Group-led exercise sessions	No	Improved in group exercise attendance
Pilot walking intervention/ Banks- Wallace et al. ¹³⁹	Sedentary, hypertensive African American women	1 year; 3 hour meeting/month	Group-led physical activity and at-home walking (2 days/ week)	No	Number of pedometer- measured steps, including repeated measures at 6 months
Bootheel Heart Health Project ¹³⁰	Residents (predominantly Black) of 6 low-income, SE Missouri counties	5 years; exact number of sessions unclear	Group-led, community- based walking clubs, aerobic exercise classes	Yes	Declines in physical inactivity and overweight prevalence
Community Health Assessment and Promotion Project (CHAPP) ¹³³	Obese Black residents of an urban community in Atlanta	10 weeks; 2 meetings/week	Group-led water aerobics and low-impact aerobic dance, as well as walking programs	Yes	Improved systolic (-5.8 mmHg) and diastolic (2.8 mmHg) blood pressure

Figure 2.4: Community-based Physical Activity Interventions for Diverse, Limited-resource Audiences (continued)

Intervention	Target	Duration	Type of	Dietary	Significant
	Audience		Exercise	Component	Outcomes
Promotion of	Low-	8 weeks; 30	Group-led	Yes	Weight loss
physical	income,	minute	walking,		(-6.6 pounds),
activity in	overweight	session/week	resistance		and increased
low-income	and obese		exercise, or		number of
mothers using	mothers of		exercising		steps walked
pedometers/	young		with a		(assessed via
Clarke et al. ²⁶	children		video tape		pedometers)
Steps to	African	6 months; 1	Weekly	No	Exercise
Soulful	American	meeting/week	group-led		hours/week
Living	women		exercise		(2x); Weight
$(STEPs)^{137}$			sessions		loss (3.7 kg);
					Weight loss
					(6.2 kg) for
					those who
					attended
					≥75% of
					sessions
Note: Whereve	Note: Wherever values are listed for outcomes, mean values are listed				

Figure 2.4: Community-based Physical Activity Interventions for Diverse, Limited-resource Audiences (continued)

Notably, all of the studies described involved participation in GL-CREP. By doing so, these interventions focused on behavior modification as opposed to knowledge gain. Behaviorally-focused nutrition education interventions have been shown to be more effective than knowledge-based interventions.¹³⁸ Some of the interventions made specific recommendations for at-home physical activity.^{26, 139} The eight community-based interventions described in Table 3.2 demonstrated varying measures and varying degrees of success. One intervention found the greatest success in communities where residents described their exercise leaders as "enthusiastic."¹³⁴ Some interventions resulted in increased participation in physical activity, ^{26, 130, 134, 137, 139} while others measured weight loss, ^{26, 28, 130, 132, 137} declines in waist circumference.²⁸ or improvements in blood pressure. ^{28, 132, 133}

In summary, due to the use of questionable outcome measures, the success of the aforementioned home-based physical activity interventions was inconclusive. Notably, all of the community-based interventions included group-led class programs, and showed impressive results. However, only one indicated that an exercise video was used, and it was not singled out for its viability, the aim of the work described in this thesis.

Summary

In summary, this chapter provided an overview of the literature necessary to evaluate exercise DVDs. Given the health benefits associated with physical activity, and a comparison of the literature outlining current exercise recommendations to Americans' activity levels, clearly increases in exercise participation rates are needed. Previous physical activity interventions with limited-resource audiences were limited at the writing of this thesis, but of those published, success was demonstrated via the use of GL-CREP. This chapter also provided a review of the necessary aspects of exemplary GL-CREP, which will serve as the foundation for the evaluation of aerobic exercise DVDs.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Researchers selected, and exercised along with and evaluated aerobic exercise DVDs to examine pertinent factors associated with their potential use in nutrition education. The factors examined, as well as all criteria for the DVD analyses, were determined based on a previous pilot study in which 38 DVDs had been examined.¹⁴⁰ This chapter includes specifics on the methods employed to select the exercise DVDs evaluated, and the surveys that assessed their potential for use with diverse audiences. It additionally includes a description of any deviations in the methodology that were deemed necessary after preliminary assessment. It concludes with a description of the analyses used to assess their potential use in programs directed toward nutrition education for limited-resource audiences, as well as findings that may be valuable to dietitians working with the general public.

Research Protocol

DVD Sample Selection

In the spring of 2006, two graduate students performed a search of Amazon.com as part of their graduate Community Nutrition course, to examine what DVDs were available for evaluation in terms of their potential for use in exercise instruction. The search revealed that there were over 5,000 exercise DVDs available on the market. Since the evaluation of this number of DVDs was not deemed feasible, it was determined that only DVDs available for purchase in local retail stores would be included in the sample.

The two graduate students, one of whom is the lead investigator on this project, identified those DVDs available in seven stores in the New Brunswick, New Jersey area, i.e., those stores deemed most likely to be used by local residents for DVD purchase. The selection venues used included: Target, located on Ryders Lane in Milltown; Walmart, located on Route 1 south in North Brunswick; Kmart, on Easton Avenue in New Brunswick; Sears, located on Route 1 south in New Brunswick; Best Buy, located on Route 18 north in East Brunswick; Barnes and Noble, located on Route 1 south in North Brunswick.

To select the DVD sample, the name of all exercise DVDs available at these locations was recorded. Since it was the 2000 Dietary Guidelines for Americans that first placed a large emphasis on physical activity, only those DVDs released or re-released between 2000 and 2005 were included in this evaluation. Using online descriptions found on Amazon.com, each DVD was classified as characteristically primarily either: cardiorespiratory conditioning (aerobic), stretching (flexibility), resistance (strength training), or any combination thereof.

Using this selection protocol, that sample was reduced to 396 DVDs. This number was still too large to be feasible for this analysis. Thus, the scope of this study was narrowed to include only DVDs that, according to their online descriptions, appeared to be comprised of primarily aerobic exercises, the type of exercise that burns the highest number of calories. This aerobic DVDs numbered 165.

Final decisions made regarding DVD exclusion criteria resulted in additional DVDs being removed from analysis. The exclusion criteria required the removal of DVDs from the sample if they:

- Were limited to one body section only (e.g., abs, arms, back, legs) (n=3);
- Were a set/compilation of DVDs and not available as separate DVDs (n=4);
- Were designed for pregnant women (n=3) or children (n=3); or,
- Required equipment that was no longer available for purchase (n=12).

This left 140 DVDs in the sample. Later, during the process of evaluating the DVDs, it was found that despite the descriptions provided on amazon.com, 16 were removed because they were not, in fact, aerobic in nature. Thus, the final sample consisted of 124 DVDs.

Assessment Methods

Multiple instruments were chosen for use in this investigation. In identifying these instruments, the research team was interested in evaluating: the performance, professionalism, and physical characteristics of the exercise leader(s); the physical characteristics of the DVD cast members; the level of difficulty experienced by the research team when they exercised along with the DVD; the perceived quality of the DVD and recommendations for its use; as well as other DVD attributes. To accomplish these aims, six assessments were employed:

- a Group Exercise Leader (GEL) Performance Appraisal Tool (PAT);¹²⁰
- a body image instrument (CDRS);¹⁴¹
- the Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) scale;¹⁴²

- the recorded target, resting, and maximum heart rates of research team members;
- a survey created by the research team to examine additional constructs of interest (DVD Constructs of Interest); and,
- a survey created by the principal investigator and her advisor to record other descriptive DVD attributes (DVD Attributes).

These measures are described in some detail, below. More specifics regarding the outcomes of previous work that had been done to test their validity and reliability can be found in the Appendices I, II, III, IV, and V.

Group Exercise Leader Performance Appraisal Tool. The Group Exercise Leader Performance Appraisal Tool (PAT), created by Eickhoff-Shemek and Selde, was selected to evaluate the DVD Group Exercise Leaders (GEL)s¹²⁰ (Appendix I). This instrument was designed to assist GELs' supervisors in the assessment of their employees' job performance and operational efficiency. The instrument contains three sections: an in-class evaluation, e.g., exercise routine safety, etc.; an out-of-class evaluation, e.g., whether or not the GEL makes arrangements for class when he or she cannot be present; and, a performance appraisal feedback section, whereby after a review of the evaluation with the GEL, the supervisor summarizes their discussion and plans for GEL's improvement. A space to provide comments was also included. The validity and reliability of this tool had not been assessed, but, at the time this thesis was written it was the only such tool identified. Despite its lack of validity and reliability assessment, the GEL PAT had previously been pilot tested by 12 GEL supervisors who had provided expert review, after which it had been revised and successfully used.

For the purposes of this study, the out-of-class evaluation and performance appraisal feedback sections of the instrument were removed. Thus, only the in-class evaluation criteria were adopted, with five subscales that were not deemed pertinent to this DVD assessment removed, i.e., pre-class conduct, class management, professionalism, end-of-class conduct, and post-class conduct (see Appendix II).

The four sub-scales remaining included assessments of the GELs': 1) beginning of class conduct, e.g. welcomes everyone and encourages participants to exercise at their own level; 2) use of safe instruction, e.g. teaches an appropriate warm-up and cool-down; 3) use of effective teaching methods, e.g. uses simple command or cue words, provides positive feedback; and, 4) interaction with participants, e.g. establishes a positive rapport, demonstrates enthusiasm. Two items from the safe instruction subscale, i.e. if GELS had participants monitor their 1) heart rate and, 2) perceived exertion, were included only in the survey completed by the PI.

Items on the PAT could be rated as "improvement is needed," "meets performance standard," "exceeds performance standard," and "not applicable." For the purposes of this analysis, the "exceeds performance standard" rating was eliminated. The "not applicable" rating was left as an option for only 3 questions: 1) demonstrates modifications given various levels of fitness; 2) incorporates exercises to address muscles that are commonly tight and/ or weak; and 3) incorporates safe transitions, e.g., standing to non-standing.

Body Image Instrument. One of the goals of this study was to assess body shape diversity among DVD GELs and cast members. To do so, Thompson and Gray's body image instrument, which had been developed to assess body shapes among the general public, was tested for use in this investigation. This instrument is comprised of nine male and nine female front-view drawings with incremental increases in waist-to-hip ratio.¹⁴¹ This instrument had been deemed to be valid and reliable by its developers. For specific information regarding the tests that were employed to assess its validity and reliability, see Appendix III.

After Thompson and Gray's body image scale was piloted by the research team in this investigation, it was determined that it was inadequate for use in this study. First, although the DVDs in the study sample did not include DVDs aimed at providing exercise instruction specifically directed toward pregnant women, it was presumed that some pregnant women might be included among other cast members. Thus, a category for pregnant women was needed. Secondly, this instrument was inadequate for assessing the body shape and size of the racially and body size diverse cast members that were of particular interest in this investigation.

No body image instruments were found that included opportunities to account for pregnancy, so the investigators added their own category for this purpose. Regarding the body shape and

size of the racially and body size diverse cast members, a more seemingly appropriate instrument was identified. This instrument, which had been developed by Pulvers, et al., had been designed using the same protocol that had been used in the development of Thompson and Gray's instrument. The Pulvers, et al. instrument was better suited for this investigation because its' drawings depicted a more consistent size gradation, particularly at the larger end of the scale; and, the hair and facial features of the drawings had been designed to resemble individuals of multiethnic backgrounds.¹⁴³ This instrument had also been shown to be both valid and reliable in terms of its content validity, inter-rater reliability, convergent validity, criterion validity, and concurrent validity.¹⁴³

Rating of Perceived Exertion Scale. One objective of this study was to evaluate the level of intensity of each DVD workout. The Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) scale (15-category), designed by Borg, allows exercisers to rate their feelings of effort, strain, discomfort, and fatigue, as a result of their physiological adaptations to exercise.¹⁴² The RPE scale provides verbal cues ranging from "no exertion at all" to "maximal exertion," as well as corresponding numerical ratings that range from six to 20. The numerical ratings on the scale have been shown to highly correlate with exercisers' heart rates; i.e. a rating of six implies no exertion and a heart rate of approximately 60 beats per minute (bpm). Similarly, an RPE of 20 implies maximal exertion and a heart rate of approximately 200 bpm. Although RPE is a subjective measure, it has been shown to be a valid and reliable tool for measuring exercise intensity in adults, and it is widely used. Thus, it was an appropriate assessment instrument for evaluating exercise intensity for this study.¹⁴⁴

Target, Resting, and Maximum Heart Rates. Target, resting, and maximum heart rates were also used to assess exercise intensity in this study, since variations in heart rate during exercise correlate directly with exercise intensity. The greatest benefits of aerobic exercise are achieved when an individual's target heart rate (THR) ranges between 60% and 85% of their maximum heart rate (MHR), which is calculated by subtracting an individual's age in years from 220.¹¹⁸ Researchers' heart rates were measured to assess if the DVDs provided routines of a great enough intensity for them to fall within their THR ranges.

DVD Constructs of Interest. To address the additional aims of this investigation, the research team developed a survey (Appendix IV) to judge the DVDs': level of maximum intensity and complexity (three point Likert scales); the extent to which the directions were clearly stated for a first-time user (three point Likert scale); space requirements (three point Likert scale); perceived appropriateness for various age groups (i.e. young adults, adults, and/or seniors); and, perceived appropriateness for users at various levels of fitness (five point Likert scale). Additional questions were also added to evaluate the perceived race and age category of the cast members. Further, one question was designed to assess how much the raters "liked" the DVD (five point Likert scale).

Intensity was defined as the degree of stress that an exercise places upon the body. For example, workouts were rated as "low intensity" if they did not cause the exercisers to lose their breath; "moderate intensity" if the workout felt somewhat physically demanding to the exerciser; and, "high intensity" if it was very physically demanding, i.e., causing the

exerciser to be out of breath to the extent that he or she had difficulty carrying on a conversation.

Complexity was defined as a measure of the level of difficulty of the choreography and/or the length of movement sequences in the workout. Low complexity workouts were those rated as not including moves that were difficult to remember or keep up with, e.g., those including long series of dance steps or moves. A moderately complex workout was defined as one that included some moves that were judged as likely unknown to the average person, and/or those workouts including moves requiring slightly difficult levels of coordination. A workout of high complexity was defined as including moves that were unlikely to be common to most people, and that greatly exceeded the exercisers' level of coordination.

Space requirements of each workout were assessed in the survey as either very little, moderate, or a lot. A workout that required very little space was defined as having included moves that could be performed without having to change directions to avoid hitting furniture or walls. DVD workouts that included large movements, e.g. walking forward and back or dancing, fell under this category so long as they could be done in a small space (approximately six square feet). A workout that required a moderate amount of space included some larger movements that the researchers believed could be performed in a small apartment if the furniture was pushed to the side of the room. Workouts requiring a lot of space were defined as those that included several large, wide-spread movements. As such, a workout in this category would demand a large and somewhat empty room to be safely performed. DVD cast members were individually judged on their age categories and racial parameters. Age categories included young adult, adult, and senior; however, the senior category was omitted for the GELs after preliminary assessment, as it appeared that none of the selected DVDs had GELs who fell into this category. Racial categories for the GELs included White (non-Hispanic), Black (non-Hispanic), Hispanic, American Indian, Asian/Pacific Islander, or "too difficult to discern." Race categories for the participants included the same categories as those listed for the GELs, but split the category for Asian/Pacific Islander into Asian (Oriental) or from India.

Preliminary assessment revealed that some DVDs had a vast number of participants, and it was decided that rating each one individually would be impractical. Thus, data from the aforementioned pilot was assessed, such that two standard deviations from the mean could be chosen for the upper limit of the number of DVD participants that would be individually assessed, i.e., 13.

For DVDs with 14 or more participants, participants were described as a group, as follows. Gender was categorized as all female, all male, or mixed. In terms of age they were judged as being all young, all adult, all senior, or mixed. For race, participants were described as all White (non-Hispanic), all Black (non-Hispanic), all Hispanic, all Asian (Oriental), all from India, all too difficult to discern, or mixed. For body shape, participants were described as all lean, all average, all overweight, or mixed. *DVD Attributes.* A second survey was created by the principal investigator and her advisor to record each DVD's attributes. These included: the workouts' adherence to current exercise recommendations; the GELs' credentials; the type of equipment required (if any); the setting of the workout; and, the cast members' attire (Appendix V).

In summary, the tools used to evaluate the DVDs in this study were:

- a Group Exercise Leader (GEL) Performance Appraisal Tool (PAT) developed by Eickhoff-Shemek and Selde;¹²⁰
- a Contour Drawing Rating Scale (CDRS) developed by Pulvers et al. (with a category added for pregnancy);¹⁴³
- the Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) scale designed by Borg;¹⁴²
- a heart rate monitor watch to record the research team members' heart rates, i.e., recorded target (as defined by NIH standards), resting, and maximum heart rates during the workout;
- a survey created by the research team to examine additional constructs of interest (DVD Constructs of Interest), e.g., the DVDs' complexity and space requirements; and,
- a survey created by the principal investigator and her advisor to record other descriptive DVD attributes (DVD Attributes), e.g., the GELs' credentials and the equipment needed to do the workout.

Implementation of the Research Protocol

This study was approved by the Rutgers Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects in Research on May 29th, 2008 under protocol 08-433M. After its approval, the principal investigator conducted a training session with the evaluators to provide detailed instructions on the study protocol. The protocol was used by the study team to assess five DVDs that had been produced before 2000, i.e., DVDs that would not be included in the study sample. Prior to the study initiation, the research team met again to discuss any facets of the surveys that were in need of further clarification.

Evaluators

Five evaluators (including the PI) participated in the evaluation of the DVDs. They were: three graduate students from the Department of Nutritional Sciences at Rutgers University, the project's faculty advisor and the faculty member's research coordinator. One of the graduate students (the PI) had a bachelor's degree in Exercise Science and Sports Studies; another of the graduate students and the research coordinator both had master's degrees in Nutritional Sciences and were registered dieticians; and, both the faculty advisor, whose doctorate was in nutrition, and one graduate student, who had a bachelor's degree in nutrition, also held degrees in education. The five evaluators were all white women, but they had between four and 14 years of experience intimately working with diverse, limited-resource audiences. They varied in age, body shape, and physical fitness level. Their ages were 24, 25, 43, 53, and 56 at the start of this study. Some body sizes changed throughout the completion of this study. Researchers rated themselves, and one another. The ranges reported for each, as compared to the Thompson and Gray's body image instrument,¹⁴¹ were:

3-4, 3-4, 4-5, 4-6, and 7-9. Self-reported physical fitness levels, as defined in the DVD Constructs of Interest evaluation were 2 (low), 3 (moderate), 3 (moderate), 4 (somewhat high), and 4 (somewhat high).

DVD Distribution

From a practical standpoint, it was not possible to use a random selection process for DVD assessment, in terms of the order in which they were performed and evaluated, particularly since one of the researchers was off-site. Thus, DVDs were performed in whatever order the researcher team member wanted, or whenever each DVD became available. The latter was particularly true towards the end of the study, when all the researchers had only a few DVDs left to perform and evaluate, as well as for the research team member who was off-site, as the DVDs were mailed to her in sets.

Evaluation Protocol for DVD Assessment

Prior to beginning each workout, the researchers put on heart rate monitor watches, sat for approximately 10 minutes, and then obtained their resting heart rates. During the completion of the DVD, researchers determined their maximum heart rates (MHR) during those portions of each DVD when the workout felt most difficult and/or their MHR felt high.

After exercising along with each DVD, the research team members logged their survey responses online at http://nutrisci.rutgers.edu/SNAP-Ed Program/DVD/Login.aspx. This website contained the aforementioned surveys, and was designed to supply survey responses

in text format upon request. The PI completed the DVD Attributes Survey in addition to the aforementioned assessments.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using SAS for Windows version 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC). Descriptive statistics, i.e., frequencies and percents, were used to assess DVD characteristics, DVD cast members' demographics, and measures of exertion. The percent overall agreement was reported for the primary GELs' demographics. However, completing this for the additional GELs and cast members was not feasible; thus most frequent response was reported for the demographics of these additional DVD participants. Chronbach's alpha was used to determine the inter-rater reliability of the subscales of the GEL-PAT.

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

Introduction

This chapter serves to report various descriptive statistics on the characteristics of aerobic exercise DVDs, including their safety and adherence to exercise recommendations. The demographics, i.e., age category, body shape, gender, and race, of both the GELs and cast members are also reported. DVD characteristics pertinent to the viability of their use in the classroom and at home by diverse, low-income audiences are also described. This chapter begins with an examination of the inter-rater reliabilities resulting from researcher ratings for the GEL-PAT, and closes with an examination of the relationships identified among various types of DVD workouts, and their intensities as experienced by the research team, i.e., the maximum heart rates, heart rate changes, and RPEs they reported when they worked out along with the DVD GELs.

DVD Descriptive Information

The information presented in the following section describes select characteristics of the DVDs, including: the year they were produced; the types of GL-CREP they contained; their intensities and complexities; as well as their adherence to safety recommendations, as rated by the research team. Details on the demographics of the DVDs' instructors and cast members are also provided, in addition to information regarding the DVDs' level of difficulty. DVD characteristics deemed pertinent for successful classroom and home use with urban, limited-resource audiences, e.g., space and equipment needs, are also described.

DVDs' Availability and Release/re-release Dates

For a complete list of the DVDs evaluated in this investigation, see Appendix VI. All of the DVDs analyzed in this work were available for purchase in retail outlets easily accessible to and commonly frequented by limited-resource audiences. The DVDs included in this work were required to have been released or re-released between 2000 and 2005. Table 4.1 shows the year that the DVDs were released or re-released.

Table 4.1: Number and Percent of the DVDs' Release or Re-release Dates, by Year			
Year	Number and Percent		
2000	1 (1%)		
2001	6 (5%)		
2002	17 (14%)		
2003	22 (18%)		
2004	34 (27%)		
2005	44 (35%)		

Types of GL-CREPs on DVDs

As stated in the Methods, three types of GL-CREP were typically featured on aerobic exercise DVDs, i.e., mixed-impact aerobics, step training, and martial arts exercise. Analysis of the DVDs showed that the mixed-impact aerobics in the sample (n=101; 82%) could be further sub-divided into floor (or general) aerobics (n=58; 47%), dance approaches (n=17; 14%), belly dancing (n=8; 6%), and walking (n=18; 14%). Martial arts exercise programs (n=17; 13%) included "Tae Bo" (Tae Kwan Do) (n=9; 7%), kickboxing (n=4; 3%), and "boot camp" (n=3; 2%) workouts. Seven (6%) of the DVDs were classified as step training workouts. The analyses also showed that the DVDs could be categorized in other manners, i.e., by featured GEL(s) or by DVD producer(s). Featured GELs, defined as those with three

or more of their DVDs included in the sample, were: Billy Blanks (n= 9; 7%), Denise Austin (n=6; 5%), Jillian Michaels (n=3; 2%), Karen Voight (n=4; 3%), Kathy Smith (n=10; 8%), and Leslie Sansone (n=16; 13%). Popular producers, defined as those with three or more of their DVDs included in our sample, included Belly Dance Fitness (n=3; 2%), Crunch (n=6; 5%), the Goddess Workouts (n=3; 2%), Prevention (n=3; 2%), and The Method (n=6; 5%).

Other DVD Characteristics

Various DVD characteristics pertinent to the aims of this research are described in the section below.

Intensity, Complexity, and Fitness Level Recommendations. Although rating categories were more explicit on the survey used, research team ratings were insufficiently correlated. Thus, to better enable the researchers to answer the hypotheses, as well as to improve overall agreement, the intensity, complexity, and fitness level recommendations were recoded. Since low intensity and low complexity workouts that can be used by people with a low to moderate level of fitness was desired, those workouts rated as meeting these criteria were recoded to have a value of one, and those that did not were recoded as a zero. This recoding resulted in overall agreements of 57% (n=71) for intensity; 43% (n=53) for complexity; and, 55% (n=68) for fitness level.

DVD characteristics according to the type of workout provided, as well as their producer/featured GEL, are shown in the tables below.

DVD Type	Intensity	Complexity Rating	Fitness Level	
	Rating		Rating	
Walking (n=18)	0.97 <u>+</u> 0.18	1.00 <u>+</u> 0.00	0.94 <u>+</u> 0.23	
Step Aerobics (n=7)	0.49 <u>+</u> 0.51	0.80 <u>+</u> 0.41	0.49 <u>+</u> 0.51	
Aerobics (n=58)	0.71 <u>+</u> 0.46	0.89 <u>+</u> 0.32	0.72 <u>+</u> 0.45	
"Tae Bo" (n=9)	0.11 <u>+</u> 0.32	0.93 <u>+</u> 0.25	0.13 <u>+</u> 0.34	
Boot camp (n=3)	0.33 <u>+</u> 0.49	0.93 <u>+</u> 0.26	0.13 <u>+</u> 0.35	
Kickboxing (n=4)	0.45 <u>+</u> 0.51	0.95 <u>+</u> 0.22	0.40 <u>+</u> 0.50	
Dance (n=17)	0.87 <u>+</u> 0.34	0.66 <u>+</u> 0.48	0.90 <u>+</u> 0.30	
Belly dancing (n=8)	0.93 <u>+</u> 0.27	0.70 <u>+</u> 0.46	0.93 <u>+</u> 0.27	
0= unfavorable rating; 1= favorable rating, in terms of predicted viability for use with the				
target audience				

 Table 4.2: Ratings of DVD Characteristics by Workout Type (Means + Standard Deviations)

 Table 4.3: Research Team Heart Rate and Exertion Levels According to DVD

 Workout Type (Means + Standard Deviations)

DVD Type	Maximum Heart Rate	Rating of Perceived Exertion	Percent Maximum Heart Rate Achieved During Workout
"Tae Bo"	143.62 <u>+</u> 22.54	16.36 <u>+</u> 1.54	79.92 <u>+</u> 8.25
Boot camp	143.13 <u>+</u> 21.78	15.73 <u>+</u> 1.83	79.69 <u>+</u> 7.92
Kickboxing	143.05 <u>+</u> 22.93	15.2 <u>+</u> 1.77	79.55 <u>+</u> 7.91
Step	140.89 <u>+</u> 19.57	15.00 <u>+</u> 1.93	78.57 <u>+</u> 7.68
Aerobics			
Aerobics	135.42 <u>+</u> 20.19	13.97 <u>+</u> 1.99	75.52 <u>+</u> 8.45
Walking	125.09 <u>+</u> 16.66	12.11 <u>+</u> 2.04	69.88 <u>+</u> 7.37
Dance	124.97 <u>+</u> 17.64	12.66 <u>+</u> 1.91	69.74 <u>+</u> 7.48
Belly	119.58 <u>+</u> 18.96	11.73 <u>+</u> 2.28	66.71 <u>+</u> 8.45
dancing			

The percent maximum heart rate reached by researcher varied by individual, with at least one researcher's maximum heart rate exceeding 90% on at least one DVD by: "Tae Bo" (98.46%), kickboxing (94.36%), step aerobics (92.27%), and boot camp (88.72%). The

aerobic DVDs exhibited the greatest range in percent maximum heart rates, with the

minimum being 40.00% and the maximum being 103.95%.

Table 4.4: Ratings of DVD Characteristics According to the Featured GEL/Producer			
(Means <u>+</u> Standard I	Deviations)		
	T 4 •4		
Featured GEL or Producer	Intensity Rating	Complexity Rating	Rating
Leslie Sansone	0.96 <u>+</u> 0.19	1.00+0.00	0.94 <u>+</u> 0.24
(n=16)			
Denise Austin (n=6)	0.67 <u>+</u> 0.48	0.97 <u>+</u> 0.18	0.63 <u>+</u> 0.49
Crunch (n=6)	0.77 <u>+</u> 0.43	0.80+0.41	0.73 <u>+</u> 0.45
Billy Blanks (n=9)	0.11 <u>+</u> 0.32	0.93+0.25	0.13 <u>+</u> 0.34
Prevention (n=3)	0.93 <u>+</u> 0.26	0.73 <u>+</u> 0.46	0.93 <u>+</u> 0.26
Kathy Smith (n=10)	0.62 <u>+</u> 0.49	0.80 <u>+</u> 0.40	0.78 <u>+</u> 0.42
Jillian Michaels	0.00 <u>+</u> 0.00	1.00 <u>+</u> 0.00	0.07 <u>+</u> 0.26
(n=3)			
Karen Voight (n=4)	0.40 <u>+</u> 0.50	0.65 <u>+</u> 0.49	0.35 <u>+</u> 0.49
The Method (n=6)	0.70 <u>+</u> 0.47	0.80 <u>+</u> 0.41	0.57 <u>+</u> 0.50
Belly Dance Fitness	0.87 <u>+</u> 0.35	0.87 <u>+</u> 0.35	0.87 <u>+</u> 0.35
(n=3)			
Goddess Workout	1.00 <u>+</u> 0.00	0.47 <u>+</u> 0.52	1.00 <u>+</u> 0.00
(n=3)			
0= unfavorable rating	; 1= favorable rating, i	in terms of predicted viabili	ty for use with the
target audience			

Featured GEL or	Maximum Heart	Rating of Perceived	Percent Maximum
DVD Producer	Rate	Exertion	Heart Rate
			Achieved During
			Workout
Jillian Michaels	148.20 <u>+</u> 22.05	16.80 <u>+</u> 1.47	82.61 <u>+</u> 9.06
Billy Blanks	143.62 <u>+</u> 22.54	16.36 <u>+</u> 1.54	79.92 <u>+</u> 8.25
Karen Voight	143.05 <u>+</u> 19.90	15.15 <u>+</u> 1.31	79.70 <u>+</u> 6.88
Denise Austin	139.83 <u>+</u> 20.02	14.27 <u>+</u> 1.53	77.91 <u>+</u> 7.37
Kathy Smith	137.20 <u>+</u> 18.46	14.24 <u>+</u> 1.42	76.49 <u>+</u> 6.78
The Method	134.23 <u>+</u> 20.60	14.17 <u>+</u> 1.95	74.73 <u>+</u> 7.71
Prevention	133.60 <u>+</u> 16.38	13.20 <u>+</u> 1.52	74.54 <u>+</u> 5.63
Crunch	133.10 <u>+</u> 16.82	13.73 <u>+</u> 1.66	74.27 <u>+</u> 6.37
Leslie Sansone	124.79 <u>+</u> 17.04	12.05 <u>+</u> 2.12	69.72 <u>+</u> 7.62
Belly Dance Fitness	124.00+20.06	12.27 <u>+</u> 2.52	69.12 <u>+</u> 8.59
Goddess Workout	111.73 <u>+</u> 16.99	10.60 <u>+</u> 2.26	62.38 <u>+</u> 7.63

 Table 4.5: Research Team Heart Rate and Exertion Levels According to the DVD

 Featured GEL or DVD Producer (Means + Standard Deviations)

The percent maximum heart rate reached by researcher varied by individual, with at least one researcher's maximum heart rate exceeding 90% on at least one DVD by: Billy Blanks (98.46%), Denise Austin (93.37%), Karen Voight (92.27%), Kathy Smith (92.31%), and Jillian Michaels (103.95%).

Setting and Clothing. Other analyses revealed that the majority of the DVDs were filmed in a workout studio (n=89; 72%). Other workouts took place on the beach (n=4; 3%), at a "regular" home (n=11; 9%); at a mansion (n=2; 2%); or at another location like a gym or in a garden (n=18; 14%). In 51% of the DVDs, the participants were wearing matching clothing.

Modifications and Floor Exercises. No workout modifications were provided for 38 (31%) of the DVDs, whereas both verbal and visual modifications were provided in 52 (42%) of the

DVDs. In the remaining 34 (27%) DVDs, either verbal or visual modifications were provided. Sixty-four (52%) DVDs did not include floor exercises.

Group Exercise Leader Demographics

The research team was in 97% overall agreement that 107 (86%) of the primary GELs were white; in 100% overall agreement that 110 (89%) of the primary GELs were female; and, in 70% overall agreement that 110 (89%) of the primary GELs were in the adult age category. The mean body shape of the primary GEL was 2.98 ± 0.9 . Table 4.6 shows the number and percent of the male and female primary GELs' body shapes. Only one (1%) of the primary GELs was pregnant.



Only 11 of the 124 DVDs (9%) had additional GELs (n=16). Of these DVDs, eight (73%) had only one additional GEL, one had two (9%) additional GELs, and two had three (18%) additional GELs. Similar to what was found with the primary GELs, the majority of the additional GELs were white (n=12; 75%) adult (n=14; 88%) women (n=13; 81%). None of the additional GELs were pregnant. The number and percent of the additional GELs' body shapes is presented in Table 4.6.



Overall Likeability of the Group Exercise Leaders

The overall likeability of the GELs was assessed via the Beginning of Class Conduct and Interaction with Participants subscales of the GEL-PAT. The means and standard deviations, as well as the % overall agreements, for the overall likeability of the GELs are presented in Table 4.7. A value of one indicates a favorable rating in terms of predicted viability for use with the target audience, whereas a zero indicates an unfavorable rating.

Table 4.8: Overall GEL Likeability			
	Mean <u>+</u> Standard Deviation	Percent Overall Agreement	
Did the GEL welcome everyone?	0.98 <u>+</u> 0.15	95.2%	
Did the GEL encourage the participants to exercise at their own level?	0.81 <u>+</u> 0.39	62.1%	
Did the GEL establish a positive rapport?	0.97 <u>+</u> 0.17	95.2%	
Did the GEL incorporate humor appropriately?	0.83 <u>+</u> 0.37	50%	
Did the GEL demonstrate enthusiasm?	0.94 <u>+</u> 0.23	89.5%	
Did the GEL create an enjoyable class?	0.91 <u>+</u> 0.29	87.9%	
0= unfavorable rating; 1= favorable rating in terms of p target audience	predicted viability for	use with the	

DVD Cast Member Demographics

Exercisers who were not GELs will be referred to as cast members. Most of the DVDs had at least one cast member (n=106). However, six of these DVDs had 14 or more cast members, making it too difficult to assess cast member attributes. DVDs had an average of 5 ± 2.83 cast members. The DVDs with less than 14 participants had a total of 515 participants, with 207 (40%) of them being categorized as young adults, 293 (57%) as adults, and 15 (3%) as seniors. With regard to the race of these participants 400 (78%) were White, 72 (14%) were Black, 24 (4%) were Hispanic, 15 (3%) were Asian, none were judged as being from India, and 4 (1%) were deemed too difficult too discern. With regard to gender, the majority of the cast members were women (n=430; 83%). The number and percent of cast members' body shapes are presented below, in Table 4.8.



Results Pertaining to Exercise DVDs' Viability For Use with Diverse, Low-income

Audiences

DVDs with modest space requirements and equipment needs were deemed important for their viability for use with diverse, limited-resource audiences.

Space. The space required to perform the DVD was divided into three categories, i.e., little space, moderate space, or large space required. The lead researcher on this project categorization the workouts according to the type of DVD workout (Table 4.9).

Table 4.10: Space Requirements by DVD Workout Type (Number and Percent)				
DVD Type	Small Space	Moderate Space	Large Space	
Walking	89% (n=16)	11% (n=2)	0% (n=0)	
Belly Dancing	75% (n=6)	25% (n=2)	0% (n=0)	
Kickboxing	75% (n=3)	25% (n=1)	0% (n=0)	
Boot Camp Aerobics	67% (n=2)	33% (n=1)	0% (n=0)	
Aerobics	59% (n=34)	41% (n=24)	0% (n=0)	
"Tae Bo"	33% (n=3)	67% (n=6)	0% (n=0)	
Dance	24% (n=4)	76% (n=13)	0% (n=0)	
Step Aerobics	0% (n=0)	100% (n=7)	0% (n=0)	

Equipment. Equipment needs were, for most videos, moderate and relatively inexpensive. Seventy (56%) DVDs required no equipment at all. Table 4.10 shows the number and percent of DVDs that required equipment, e.g., weights, chairs, resistance bands, steps, mats, the Transfirmer®, or other types of equipment. The Transfirmer® was comprised of two steps that can be used alone or stacked together to provide a higher level of intensity. The steps were also used to be stacked perpendicularly to provide an incline step. The other category included equipment like a step stool or jump rope.

Table 4.11: Equipment Needs for DVD Workouts			
Type of Equipment	Number and Percent		
Weights	27 (22%)		
Chair	7 (6%)		
Resistance Band	4 (3%)		
Step	10 (8%)		
The Transfirmer®	3 (2%)		
Mat	25 (20%)		
Other 7 (6%)			
Note: Some DVDs required the use of more than one piece of equipment.			

Results Pertaining to DVD Exercise Standards

The beginning of this section reports on the GELs' credentials, use of safe teaching methods, and the adequacy of their instruction for exercise beginners. The latter portion of this section describes the exercise DVDs' adherence to recommendations for stretching, as well as the length of the warm-ups, workouts, and cool-downs.

Qualified Exercise Leaders. Exercise leader qualifications included educational, credential, and experiential components. Organizations providing credentialing for GELs include the ACSM, the American Council on Exercise (ACE), the Aerobics and Fitness Association of America (AFAA), and the Cooper Institute. Less than half (n=57; 46%) of the instructors leading the DVD workouts in this investigation were certified by one of these organizations (Table 4.11). Instructors who were identified as having been certified through one of the recognized credentialing agencies listed above were counted twice in Table 4.11, i.e., as both a qualified leader/instructor and again in the credentialing agency's categories. The credentialing organization for some GELs was not available. If the credentialing agency was unknown the GEL is included only once in the table below.

Table 4.12: Group Exercise Leaders' (GELs) Credentials	
Credential	Number and Percent
Certified Group Exercise Leader	57 (46%)
Certified Personal Trainer	35 (28%)
Certified Strength and Conditioning Specialist	1 (1%)
ACE Certified	17 (14%)
ACSM Certified	24 (19%)
AFAA Certified	22 (18%)
Cooper Institute Certified	18 (15%)
College Degree in Exercise-Related Field	17 (14%)
Dance aerobics and martial arts workouts were often led by professional dancers (n=36; 29%) and martial arts instructors (n=10; 8%), respectively. Although 38 (31%) GELs were found to have been given "prestigious awards," for one GEL (Kathy Smith), a fitness award was her only qualification. One GEL had no certifications or awards (Jane Fonda).

Adequacy of Directions. The rating for adequacy instructional adequacy was converted to a dichotomous variable, i.e., inadequate or adequate. This variable exhibited 76% overall agreement. The adequacy of instruction ratings, as judged via a scale of one (inadequate) to three (adequate), had relatively similar results among workout types. On average, the instructional ratings for featured DVD GELs were: Billy Blanks (0.91 ± 0.30), Denise Austin (0.91 ± 0.30), Jillian Michaels (0.67 ± 0.52), Karen Voight (0.62 ± 0.51), Kathy Smith (0.93 ± 0.26), and Leslie Sansone (1.00 ± 0.00). The instructional ratings for DVD producers were: Belly Dance Fitness (0.82 ± 0.40), Crunch (0.89 ± 0.33), the Goddess Workouts (0.75 ± 0.46), Prevention (0.60 ± 0.55), and The Method (0.81 ± 0.40).

Adherence to Exercise Guidelines. Table 4.12 shows the minimum, maximum, mean, and standard deviation for the DVDs' warm-up, workout, and cool-down length.

Table 4.13: Length of DVDs' Warm-ups, Workouts, and Cool-downs (in minutes)							
	Minimum	Maximum	Mean and Standard Deviation				
Warm-up	0	21	4.87 <u>+</u> 4.52				
Workout	7	55	25.03 <u>+</u> 11.45				
Cool-down	0	15	4.33 <u>+</u> 2.92				

With regard to stretching, 75 (60%) of the DVDs included stretching in the warm-up. The majority of the DVDs included stretching in the cool-down (n=110; 89%).

Appraisal of Group Exercise Leader Performance

Subscales included on the Group Exercise Leader-Performance Appraisal Tool (GEL-PAT)
were additionally used to evaluate the DVDs' quality. The internal consistency was
calculated for each of the four subscales, i.e., "Safe Instruction," "Safe Instruction
Throughout the Class," "Effective Teaching Methods," and "Beginning of Class
Conduct/Interaction with Participants." They were 0.71, 0.67, 0.67, and 0.67, respectively.
Scale ranges were: Safe Instruction (0-5); Safe Instruction Throughout the Class (0-10),
Effective Teaching Methods (0-9), and Beginning of Class Conduct/Interaction with

Participants (0-6).

Featured GEL or	Safe	Safe Instruction	Effective	Beginning of
Producer	Instruction	Throughout	Teaching	Class/Interacti
	Rating	Class Rating	Methods	on with
	B		Rating	Particinants
			Nating	Poting
CEL				Kating
GELS				
Billy Blanks (n=9)	4.18 <u>+</u> 1.21	9.31 <u>+</u> 0.92	8.44 <u>+</u> 0.81	5.67 <u>+</u> 0.48
Denise Austin (n=6)	4.77 <u>+</u> 0.63	9.33 <u>+</u> 1.03	7.80 <u>+</u> 1.73	5.67 <u>+</u> 0.66
Dolphina "Goddess	4.13 <u>+</u> 0.99	8.93 <u>+</u> 0.96	8.27 <u>+</u> 1.10	4.47 <u>+</u> 1.41
Workouts" (n=3)				
Jillian Michaels	2.73 <u>+</u> 1.44	7.87 <u>+</u> 1.50	7.80 <u>+</u> 1.57	5.13 <u>+</u> 1.12
(n=3)				
Karen Voight (n=4)	4.00 <u>+</u> 1.08	7.95 <u>+</u> 1.88	7.90 <u>+</u> 1.02	4.35 <u>+</u> 1.63
Kathy Smith (n=10)	4.14 <u>+</u> 1.31	8.90 <u>+</u> 1.26	8.36 <u>+</u> 1.14	5.74 <u>+</u> 0.53
Leslie Sansone	4.94 <u>+</u> 0.24	9.84 <u>+</u> 0.49	8.76 <u>+</u> 0.60	5.99 <u>+</u> 0.11
(n=16)				
Producers				
Belly Dance Fitness	4.13 <u>+</u> 0.99	8.53 <u>+</u> 1.55	7.53 <u>+</u> 1.36	4.73 <u>+</u> 1.10
(n=3)				
Crunch (n=6)	4.43 <u>+</u> 0.97	8.67 <u>+</u> 1.15	8.50 <u>+</u> 0.82	5.70 <u>+</u> 0.60
Prevention (n=3)	4.73 <u>+</u> 0.46	8.93 <u>+</u> 0.96	8.40 <u>+</u> 0.83	5.73 <u>+</u> 0.46
The Method $(n=6)$	3.53 <u>+</u> 1.31	8.00 <u>+</u> 1.53	7.47+1.36	4.73 <u>+</u> 1.23

Table 4.14: Ratings for Instructional Techniques According to the DVDs' Featured GEL/Producer (Means <u>+</u> Standard Deviations)

These results show a wide variation in the quality of, and potential use for, the DVDs examined in this work. Further, they support implications for nutrition education that examined in the next two chapters of this thesis.

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

Introduction

The intent of this study was to evaluate aerobic exercise DVDs' potential for use among diverse, limited-resource audiences, like SNAP-Ed participants. Further, the investigation aimed to provide needed information regarding exercise DVD recommendation specifics that could be used by nutritionists/dietitians who were required to make recommendations for moderate to vigorous physical activity to the general public. The results of this work show that existing aerobic exercise DVDs may provide practical solutions for the general population's exercise needs, but are largely inappropriate for use in nutrition education directed toward limited-resource audiences. This chapter will provide a detailed description of specifics regarding the DVDs suitable for use in nutrition education, according to the hypotheses stated in the thesis introduction. It concludes with a discussion of the study limitations.

DVD Use with SNAP-Ed Participants

The following section synthesizes the findings from this study to examine the viability of recommending aerobic exercise DVDs for use by limited resource individuals, according to the study's hypotheses.

Likely Appeal of Exercise DVDs for Use in SNAP-Ed Classes

Based on GELs' and participants' physical characteristics, the exercise DVDs' levels of difficulty, and the practicality of their use in terms of their viability with the target audience,

this study supported the notion that existing aerobic exercise DVDs would be of questionable appeal for their use in SNAP-Ed classrooms.

Regarding GEL and cast member physical characteristics, researchers found a clear lack of racial, body size, age, and gender diversity. The majority of the cast members and GELs were White, thin, adult women. This suggests that these DVDs would likely have limited appeal among New Jersey SNAP-Ed participants who are primarily African American and Hispanic, as well as among many other limited-resource populations.

At the writing of this thesis there was no research assessing the target audiences' preferences for race, age, or gender among aerobic workout DVD cast members and GELs. However, research in the area of GEL body shape preference in aerobics classes had been conducted, and it had been documented that GELs were often viewed as role models for active lifestyles.^{94, 145} In a small study of White female college students who regularly participated in or instructed GL-CREP, both the instructors and participants interviewed agreed that instructors should serve as body role models. The GELs and participants described the ideal instructor's body as "lean, toned, and strong."¹⁴⁶ This would suggest that the GELs in the DVDs assessed in this investigation were of an appropriate body shape.

However, the five GELs and the six college students interviewed were all white, themselves. Multiple studies have reported that what is viewed as the ideal body size by African American women is heavier,^{147, 148, 149} thus it is likely that a thin GEL may not be viewed as ideal by individuals who are not white. It further suggests that the DVDs evaluated in this study may have limited appeal to SNAP-Ed participants.

In the absence of additional research it is logical to presume that people who exercise along with a DVD would, at the very least, desire to see someone in the cast who resembles them in terms of their age, gender, and/or racial group. While in fiscal year 2008, most NJ SNAP-Ed participants (94%) were adults, 50% were males and 72% were not white. Therefore, it is reasonable to predict that in terms of these GEL and cast member characteristics would not be best suited to this target audience.

In considering the level of difficulty associated with exercising along with the DVDs, with disproportionately low levels of physical activity and high levels of over weight and obesity among the target audience, most of those DVDs available on the market at the time of this work were not suitable for their fitness needs. DVD complexity was predominantly appropriate, with the exception of many of the dance and belly dance DVDs. However, whereas the step aerobics, aerobics, Tae Bo, kickboxing, and boot camp aerobic DVDs required little in the way of complex moves, their intensity requirements were often high. Only the walking DVDs were characterized by both low intensity and complexity. Yet, even though they are perceived to require little in the way of complexity and intensity, the average percent maximum heart rate reached by the researchers was 70%, a rate of exertion that is consistent with NIH recommendations. Since it has been predicted that the target audience would best like workouts that were not perceived as being too difficult to do, but the aim of

69

nutrition educators is to provide an adequately vigorous workout, one would predict that walking DVDs would appeal to both the target audience and the nutrition educators.

The likeability ratings given by the researchers further support this notion, particularly with regards to the walking DVDs. In terms of researcher ratings, the walking DVDs were the best liked, while the belly dancing workouts were awarded the lowest ratings. The likeability of featured DVD GELs and/or DVD producers was consistent with this finding in that the likeability ratings attributed to Leslie Sansone, whose DVDs feature "at-home" walking rated considerably higher than the "Goddess" workouts, which were focused on belly dancing. On the basis of this data, as well as conversations among the researchers, it is clear that the walking DVDs were consistently well liked, but otherwise DVD preferences varied.

Exercise DVDs' Potential for Overcoming Participants' Physical Activity Barriers

Exercising indoors can help the target audience overcome several of the barriers that prevent them from being physically active, both at home and in class. When people exercise indoors, child care is less of a problem, and bad weather is inconsequential. Further, the increased risk associated with exercising outside in an unsafe neighborhood is eliminated. Two barriers, i.e., lack of space and the inability to purchase expensive equipment, remain. Although the DVD characteristics presented above suggested limited appeal for use with SNAP-Ed participants, their potential for overcoming the barriers that prevent participants from being physically active requires examination. With regard to the workouts' space requirements, none of the DVDs evaluated in this study required a large amount of space. In fact, with the exception of the Tae Bo, dance aerobics, and step aerobics workouts, most of the exercise DVDs required very little space to perform. Thus, the use of aerobic exercise DVDs may provide a suitable option for limited-resource populations, who often have only small areas to exercise, whether at home or in nutrition education class.

In terms of the second barrier, i.e., cost, there are several to be considered. Costs include: DVDs, DVD players, and any equipment needed for the workouts. In a study conducted by Kirsten Corda, one of the research team members in this investigation, 82% of the 455 limited-resource individuals she interviewed owned a DVD player; a finding that is consistent with the fact that DVD players are low in cost, as are workout DVDs. With regards to equipment costs, although nearly half of the DVDs required the use of equipment, the most commonly used were weights/dumbbells. Weights can be purchased for a minimal cost. Further, although none of the DVDs mentioned it, household items like soup cans and bags of rice can be used in their stead.

In light of the findings above, it appears that exercise DVDs are a viable means of reducing barriers to exercise, by providing a low-cost, safe and convenient means of exercising in the home.

Exercise DVDs' Viability as an Appropriate Means of Performing Physical Activity

When it comes to physical activity, the most important things to consider are the quality of the guidance and the efficacy of the workout. The quality of the guidance can be assessed in terms of the qualifications of the GEL, the demonstration of effective teaching methods, and the adherence to ACSM guidelines. Workout efficacy can be evaluated by examining the workouts' rigor and duration.

GL-CREP are led by GELs, who are seen as "experts" on account of the instructional role they assume. In this investigation it was hypothesized that the DVDs assessed would be led by qualified exercise leaders. However, less than half of the primary GELs leading the workouts possessed any type of credential.

Ironically, the use of Effective Teaching Methods did not appear to be related to the possession of credentials or appropriate educational background. However, credentials were important to safety. The one instructor who labeled herself as a personal trainer, but was not certified through a credentialing agency, scored the lowest on the Safe Instruction and the Effective Teaching Methods subscales. Others with minimal and no certification similarly scored lower on Safe Instruction, whereas those with more certifications and education exhibited superior safety demonstrations.

With the results indicating that warms ups were 4.87 ± 4.52 minutes in duration, this safety factor is of particular concern, and is the area noted where those who were not credentialed scored the worst. Inadequate warm-ups may jeopardize the health of the exerciser, as

warming up has been shown to increase the elasticity of the muscle, thereby reducing the likelihood of muscle tearing. It is critical that exercise DVDs, which can be done alone, provide guidance that is likely to ensure the safety of the exerciser.

Of note, more than half of the DVDs included stretching in the warm-up, but information on whether this was performed prior to or after warming up the muscles was not collected. Stretching before warming up is a major safety problem. No evaluative statement can be made regarding the inclusion of stretching after the warm-up, as the evidence supporting this practice was inconclusive at the writing of this thesis. Although the majority of the DVDs included stretching in the cool-down, it is concerning that 14 DVDs provided no stretching in the cool-down at all.

Workout efficacy in terms of the workouts' rigor, overall, was good. Other than the "Goddess" workouts, the vast majority of the workouts facilitated a percent maximum heart rate associated with a moderate to vigorous intensity level. While perhaps a bit vigorous for those who are less fit, these levels adhere to all current physical activity intensity recommendations.

Strong workout efficacy should also be evidenced by its practicality in terms of use. Two factors examined in this area were the incorporation of floor exercises, and the duration of the workouts. The Physical Activity Guidelines stated that more research is needed to establish the risks and benefits of various regimens of physical activity in men and women with a body mass index of 35 or greater. DVDs may provide a good solution for this

73

population, but the use floor exercises may be difficult for this target audience, as well as those who are not fit, who have back problems, arthritis, etc. Most of the DVDs did not include floor exercises, which improves their potential viability for these audiences. In lieu of floor exercises for stretching, Decoster et al. reported that standing and supine hamstring stretches were equally effective at improving flexibility.¹⁵⁰ Evidence in this area is limited, but of critical importance for working with those who experience difficulty doing floor exercises, like stretching.

Ideally, workout durations would be short enough that people would be willing and able to incorporate them into their daily routines, yet long enough to meet the exercise duration recommendations. It is widely known that meeting guidelines to be moderately active for at least 150 minutes per week is challenging. To that end, ten-minute workout DVDs have been designed to appeal to individuals with time constraints. This would seem to be a workable solution since the ACSM stated that cardiorespiratory (aerobic) segments can be done via intermittent aerobic activities throughout the day that add up to 20 to 60 minutes.⁹⁴ According to the 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines, aerobic activity performed in a bout of at least 10 minutes has been shown to improve cardiovascular fitness and some risk factors for heart disease and type 2 diabetes.⁴ Other studies have also documented that intermittent cardiorespiratory segments that last at least ten minutes provide improvements in cardiovascular fitness comparable to longer, continuous segments.^{31, 115, 116, 117}

The fact that there is no discussion of warm-up or cool-down duration requirements to accompany ten minute aerobic bouts makes these recommendations ambiguous and

misleading. It also challenges the efficacy of the 10 minute "workout solutions." No prescription for warm-up and cool-down durations totaling less than nine minutes have been made by any reputable organization. Thus, it would appear that efficacious DVD workouts should be at least 19 minutes in length.

Study Limitations

There were multiple limitations observed throughout the evaluation of the aerobic exercise DVDs. The research team was comprised of all white women from similar socio-economic and health education backgrounds. Ideally, this study would have been conducted with the target audience, but this was unfeasible for several reasons. The cost of distributing 124 exercise DVDs, along with the liability and the risks of injury associated with vigorous intensity exercise prevented this from being a possibility. To our knowledge, no research assessing exercise DVDs had been conducted at the writing of this thesis, and as such an initial investigation was required before an intervention with the target audience could be conducted.

The reported heart rates for some workouts may have been inaccurate due to the fact that the research team was instructed to walk in place if a workout became too difficult. Further, some of the research team members completed the DVDs in a matter of a few months, while others completed them in spurts over a period of 18 months. These varying patterns resulted in training effect variations.

A random selection process for using the DVDs was considered, but found to be impractical. Also, despite efforts to reduce bias, previous workout history, age, fitness level, etc. likely affected raters' perceptions and survey responses.

Additional limitations were revealed as the survey instruments were used. Most notably, while the contour drawing rating scales initially seemed ideal for evaluating the DVDs' GELs and cast members, researchers discovered that many of the DVDs' GELs and cast members had features that related to two or more drawings. For example, the torso and midsection of a participant's body often resembled one drawing while the lower body resembled another portion. In discussion, researchers discovered that they had unintentionally been using different body sections to determine their final ratings. Further, upon analysis of the questions developed by the research team, it was found that the use of Likert scales elicited sub-optimal inter-rater reliability, diminished the types of future analyses that could be performed, and were less suitable for answering the research questions, than were dichotomous variables.

Despite study limitations it seems clear that the exercise DVDs in this sample had the potential to ameliorate barriers to exercise, but would likely have limited appeal for use with the target audience. In terms of their efficacy, the DVDs exhibited mixed findings.

CHAPTER SIX: CONCLUSIONS

Introduction

The first aerobics video, "Jane Fonda's Workout," was released in 1982; and, at the writing of this thesis, over 5,000 exercise videos were available on the market. With a national quest underway to identify means of mobilizing a sedentary population as a strategy to curtail obesity, a study on the practicality, safety, and appropriateness of this resource for use in nutrition education was necessary. A summary of the study findings and implications for future work are presented in this chapter.

Summary of Study Findings

The findings of this investigation supported the notion that exercise DVDs may ameliorate several barriers that prevent urban, limited-resource audiences from being as physically active as they would like to be. DVDs can be performed at home, or in other comfortable and accessible settings where childcare is unnecessary. Further, both DVDs and DVD players are inexpensive, and require little in the way of space and equipment.

However, the exercise DVDs evaluated in this study may have limited appeal for SNAP-Ed participants, as they included mostly thin, White, adult women. Many of the DVDs analyzed were characterized by both intense and complex workouts, and may have limited appeal for limited-resource audiences. However, they should not be discounted in terms of their potential for use with other populations. Nutrition educators and dietitians/nutritionists who

are required to make exercise recommendations to the public may find exercise DVDs to be an excellent solution for the individuals that they counsel. Walking DVDs may be the best option for nutrition educators to recommend. They were characterized by low intensity and complexity and superior adherence to both safety guidelines and national physical activity recommendations for moderate to vigorous activity.

Implications for Future Research

As stated above, exercise DVDs have the potential to be used by dietitians/nutritionists who make exercise recommendations to their clients. However, before nutrition educators and dietitians recommend exercise DVDs to their participants or clients, additional research may be needed.

Formative research should be conducted to determine what factors would make exercise DVDs more appropriate for limited-resource populations. For example, this audience's preferences for GEL and cast member gender, race, body shape, and age is presently unknown. Research assessing these preferences should be conducted, and the results of such work may substantiate a need for the development of new exercise DVDs that are diverse with regard to these aspects. The viability of these DVDs would then need to be tested with the target audience in SNAP-Ed classes.

Future research should also focus on the development of evaluation tools for the assessment of exercise DVDs and better body image scales. The development of a valid and reliable tool

for exercise DVD evaluation would allow nutrition educators to evaluate new DVDs as they become available for purchase. Assessing cast members' body shape for this study was challenging, and pointed to a need to develop better body image scales. New scales should take into account individuals of various cultures and body shapes, and may need to include more than nine drawings per gender in order to accomplish this goal.

When recommending DVDs, safety should be a primary focus. Nutritionists will want to recommend videos that are appropriate for their clients' levels of fitness, that are led by well-trained GELs, and that score highly when rated for safety in a manner similar to the safety subscales used in this work. Most of the DVDs evaluated in this work did not include a fitness level rating on the cover. The inclusion of a recommendation on the DVD cover stating whether the workout is appropriate for a beginner, intermediate, or advanced exerciser would help individuals select a workout that is most appropriate for them. The fact that more than half of the primary GELs evaluated in this work did not possess any credentials may substantiate the need for legislation requiring producers to list the GELs' credentials on the DVD cover, as well.

It may seem to nutrition educators and dietitians that short, ten-minute workout DVDs would be the best recommendation for individuals who cite a lack of time as an exercise barrier. In the case of low intensity ten-minute workouts this may be true since they may not require warm-ups and cool-downs of five and four minutes, respectively. However, the ten-minute workouts evaluated in this work featured high intensity workouts, and may therefore have required warm-ups and cool-downs of this duration in order to ensure safety. Therefore, at the time of the writing of this thesis, caution was advised when recommending DVDs available for this purpose. There is a clear need for research in the area of how warm-up and cool-down duration requirements for short, high intensity workouts. Based upon these findings, new short duration workout DVDs may need to be developed.

To further accommodate the needs specific to limited-resource audiences, GELs should provide advice for low cost or household options for equipment, i.e., soup cans instead of weights. When designing DVDs to be used in SNAP-Ed classrooms, GELs and producers may want to avoid the use of equipment all together. They should also be sure to include modifications for difficult moves so that individuals of all fitness levels can participate. Additionally, producers should make sure that bad camera angles don't prevent the exerciser from being able to see the GELs' full body when they are teaching a new move.

In conclusion, available exercise DVDs have the potential to reduce exercise barriers, but may have little appeal for diverse, limited-resource audiences. Among the various types of aerobic exercise DVDs, walking DVDs appear to have the greatest potential for success due to their favorable ratings for intensity, complexity, and adequacy of instruction. Finally, even if the DVDs evaluated in this investigation are found to have limited appeal with the target audience, they may be well suited for other populations that dietitians/nutritionists counsel.

Appendix I: Group Exercise Leader Performance Appraisal Tool

EVALUATING GROUP EXERCISE LEADER PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL TOOL - GROUP EXERCISE LEADER (GEL)

Name of GEL	Name of Supervisor				
Date of Class Observation	Name of Class				
Number of participants attending	Date/Time of Class				
Reason for Appraisal: Introductory Follow-	Up Regular Interval				
Rate the performance as I, M, E, or NA as follows:					
I - Improvement is needed; performance standard is not me	et Note: Explanation sections are available				
M - Meets performance standard	to describe any particular rating.				
E - Exceeds performance standard					
NA - Not Applicable					

SECTION 1: IN-CLASS EVALUATION

Behavior-Based Performance	I	М	Е	NA
Criterion #1 - Pre-class Conduct				
1. Arrives prior to class time				
2. Sets up equipment				
3. Greets participants as they arrive				
Explanation:				
Criterion #2 - Beginning of Class Conduct				
1. Starts class on time				
2. Introduces self and class format				
3. Welcomes everyone				
4. Makes announcements, e.g., anything related to today's class				
5. Encourages participants to exercise at own level				
Explanation:				
Criterion #3 - Safe Instruction				
Warm-Up				
1. Teaches warm-up which is specifically appropriate for the class				
2. Incorporates appropriate duration of warm-up				
Stimulus				
3. Teaches appropriate intensity given fitness levels of participants				
4. Incorporates proper progression of intensity				
5. Incorporates proper progression of complexity				
6. Monitors intensity by having participants take their heart rates				
7. Monitors intensity by having participants rate via RPE				
8. Observes each participant for signs of overexertion				
9. Takes proper action if a participant appears to be overexerted				
10. Incorporates appropriate duration of stimulus				
11. Gradually decreases the intensity of exercises prior to cool-down				
Cool-Down				
12. Incorporates appropriate stretching in the cool-down				
13. Incorporates appropriate duration of cool-down				

EVALUATING GROUP EXERCISE LEADER PERFORMANCE

	I	М	E	NA
Safe Instruction throughout Class				
14. Teaches and demonstrates proper form and execution of exercises				
15. Corrects improper form/execution of exercises				
16. Demonstrates modifications given various levels of fitness				
17. Teaches exercises in an appropriate sequence and progression				
18. Avoids contraindicated exercises				
19. Avoids patterns/combinations that can contribute to balance/coordination problems				
20. Incorporates appropriate number of sets/reps when teaching muscle strength/endurance exercises				
21. Incorporates exercises that utilize a variety of muscle groups				
22. Incorporates exercises that provide muscle balance				
23. Incorporates exercises to address muscles that are commonly tight and/or weak				
24. Incorporates safe transitions, e.g., standing to non-standing				
Explanation:				
Criterion #4 - Effective Teaching Methods				
1 Uses simple, command or cue words				
2 Incorporates proper timing of command or cue words				
3. Provides verbal encouragement/positive feedback				
4 Utilizes appropriate voice quality including projections				
volume, and enunciation				
5. Utilizes appropriate nonverbal communication				
6. Moves around the room while teaching				
7. Uses appropriate music volume				
8. Uses appropriate music tempo				
9. Selects appropriate music				
10. Teaches to the beat of the music; demonstrates proper rhythm				
11. Utilizes room space effectively				
12. Teaches exercise concepts/principles				
Explanation:				
1. Communication and a second				
2. Demonstration of the second s				
2. Demonstrates control and command of the class				
5. Uses class time effectively				
Criterion #6 - Professionalism				
1. Dresses appropriately				
2. Demonstrates professional conduct and attitude				
3. Supports policies and procedures of the facility				
4. Handles equipment properly				
Explanation:				

EVALUATING GROUP EXERCISE LEADER PERFORMANCE

	I	М	Е	NA
Criterion #7 - Interaction with Participants				
1. Uses an appropriate approach when correcting form/execution				
2. Shows maturity when dealing with difficult participants				
3. Encourages a noncompetitive atmosphere				
4. Establishes a positive rapport				
5. Incorporates humor appropriately				
6. Demonstrates enthusiasm				
7. Creates an enjoyable class				
8. Welcomes late comers and encourages them to warm-up				
Explanation:				
Criterion #8 - End of Class Conduct				
1. Ends class on time				
2. Thanks participants				
3. Gives positive feedback				
4. Makes announcements, e.g., promotes other classes/upcoming events				
5. Available to address participant questions/comments				
Explanation:				
Criterion #9 - Post-class Conduct				
1. Puts away equipment				
2. Leaves classroom on time				
3. Follows procedures, e.g., turning off lights, locking door, etc.				
Explanation:				
SECTION 2: OUT-OF-CLASS-EVALUATION				
Behavior-Based Performance				
Criterion #1 - Behavior Outside the Classroom				
1. Demonstrates dependability regarding teaching responsibilities				
2. Makes prior arrangements for class when absent				
3. Attends required in-service trainings regarding emergency plan				
4. Attends required in-service trainings and meetings				
5. Maintains current CPR/AED certification				
6. Maintains current First-Aid certification				
7. Maintains current GEL certification				
8. Available to substitute classes for other instructors				
9. Responds to phone/email messages in a timely manner				
Explanation:				
Trait-Based Performance				
Criterion #1 - Communication Traits				
1. Demonstrates appropriate interpersonal communication				
2. Responds to constructive criticism appropriately				
Explanation:				

EVALUATING GROUP EXERCISE LEADER PERFORMANCE

	I	Μ	Ε	NA
Criterion #2 - Professional/Personal Traits				
1. Demonstrates a positive attitude				
2. Demonstrates an unbiased attitude				
3. Exhibits creativity				
4. Shows a desire to learn				
5. Takes responsibility for actions				
6. Demonstrates self-motivation				
Explanation:				
Results-Based Performance				
Criterion #1 - Accomplishments Related to Participants				
1. Obtained high attendance adherence in classes taught				
2. Obtained positive participant evaluations				
Explanation:				
Criterion #2 - Accomplishments Related to Program/Facility		Yes	No	In Progress
1. Created a new program or class				
2. Improved an operational procedure(s)				
3. Developed skills to teach another class or perform another job				
Explanation:				
Criterion #3 - Professional Accomplishments				
1. Obtained additional degree or certification				
2. Obtained an award or recognition				
3. Attended conferences/workshops for continuing education				
Explanation:				

SECTION 3: PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL FEEDBACK

Discussion/Feedback Date _____ (Discussed self-performance appraisal, supervisor performance appraisal and developed an action plan).

Action Plan: (Steps to address performance standards rated "I" with a projected timeframe)

General/Positive Feedback:

GEL Signature	Date:
Supervisor Signature	Date:

Copy of written Performance Appraisal Tool given to GEL and original placed in GEL Personnel File on _____ (date).

Appendix II: Questions Omitted from GEL Performance Appraisal Tool

Section 1: In-class evaluation Criterion #1: Pre-class conduct Arrives prior to class time Sets up equipment Greets participants as they arrive

Criterion #2: Beginning of class conduct Starts class on time Introduces self and class format Makes announcements, e.g. anything related to today's class

Criterion #3: Safe instruction Teaches appropriate intensity given fitness levels of participants Monitors intensity by having participants take their heart rates Monitors intensity by having participants rate via RPE Observes each participant for signs of overexertion Takes proper action if participant appears to be overexerted Incorporates appropriate duration of stimulus

Criterion #4: Effective teaching methods Moves around room while teaching Utilizes room space effectively

Criterion #5: Class management (all removed) Comes to class prepared Demonstrates control and command of the class Uses class time effectively

Criterion #6: Professionalism (all removed) Dresses appropriately Demonstrates professional conduct and attitude Supports policies and procedures of the facility Handles equipment properly

Criterion #7: Interaction with participants Uses an appropriate approach when correcting form/ execution Shows maturity when dealing with difficult participants Encourages a noncompetitive atmosphere Welcomes late comers and encourages them to warm-up

Criterion #8: End of class conduct (all removed) Ends class on time Thanks participants Gives positive feedback Makes announcements, e.g., promotes other classes/ upcoming events Available to address participant questions/ comments

Criterion #9: Post-class conduct (all removed) Puts away equipment Leaves classroom on time Follows procedures, e.g., turning off lights, locking door, etc.

Section 2: Out-of-class evaluation (entire section removed)

Appendix III: Outcomes Of Previous Studies That Tested The Validity And Reliability Of The Assessment Instruments Used In This Investigation

Thompson and Gray's Body Image Instrument. Thompson and Gray's body image instrument was tested among a population of female college students.¹⁴¹ The validity of the instrument was tested by having fifty-one female subjects rank both the male and female drawings from thinnest to heaviest. Also, a subsample of the subjects (n= 32) selected the drawing which they felt most accurately depicted their current body size. The subjects' responses were strongly correlated with both their reported weights (0.71, p < 0.0005), and their BMIs (0.59, p < 0.0005). Test-retest reliability for participants' rank-ordering of pictures and their self-ratings were assessed after a one week interval using a sub-sample of the subjects (n=32). Responses were strongly correlated (0.78, p < 0.0005).

Pulver's Body Image Assessment. A culturally relevant body image assessment tool was developed by Pulvers et al. This instrument's drawings resembled individuals of multiethnic backgrounds.¹⁴³ The investigators tested this instrument for validity and reliability, via three separate studies. In the first study, content validity was established via expert review by medical practitioners. There was a strong correlation (r = 0.91) between the medical practitioners' weight classifications of the drawings and the body image figures. In a second study inter-rater reliability, convergent validity, and concurrent validity were assessed. To do so, three research team members used the scale to rate 283 the body sizes for African American men and women. Inter-rater reliability among the researchers was assessed via Cronbach's Alpha, and was, again, high ($\alpha = 0.95$). Body image ratings were strongly correlated with the participants' BMI (r = 0.89 to 0.93 across observers and 0.81 for all

participants). Ratings of body image were also strongly correlated with percentage of body fat (r = 0.77 to 0.89 across observers and 0.76 for all participants). A third study aimed to: a) assess the instrument's criterion validity by comparing it to two existing body image instruments; and, b) evaluate African Americans' perception of cultural relevance compared to other existing instruments. Results of this work showed that ratings of body image were positively correlated with other validated instruments. Additionally, it was shown that this scale was more culturally acceptable to African Americans than the other instruments. In summary, this body image assessment tool was valid and reliable for examining body image among culturally diverse audiences.

Appendix IV: DVD Constructs of Interest Survey

Your Name/ ID#:

Date:

Name of Video ID#:

- 1. At the lowest level of intensity, I would recommend this video for someone who:
 - ① is inactive and has difficulty walking or performing low intensity exercise
 - ^② has a low level of fitness and no issues with walking or low intensity exercise
 - ③ has a moderate level of fitness who exercises regularly, but not strenuously
 - ④ has a somewhat high level of fitness who exercises regularly and sometimes vigorously
 - (5) has a very high level of fitness, who exercises vigorously almost daily
- 2. Do you think the directions during the workout were adequate for a person using this video for the first time?

 \Box inadequate \Box somewhat adequate \Box adequate

3. How do you think the average person would rank the most intense portion of the workout?

 \Box low intensity \Box moderate intensity \Box high intensity

4. How do you think the average person would rank the most complex portion of the workout?

 \Box low complexity \Box moderate complexity \Box high complexity

5. Think of the portion of the video when your body felt like it was working its hardest. Rate your Perceived Exertion.

No exert -ion	Extremel y light		Very light		Light		Somewhat hard		H	Hard		ery ard	Extremely hard	Maximal exertion
6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20

- 6. How much space is required to use this video? □ very little space □ moderate amount of space □ a lot of space
- 7. Who does this video appeal to? Check all that apply.
 □ young adults
 □ adults
 □ seniors

8. Rate the overall exercise video on the following:

Criterion #2- Safe Instruction		
#2a: Form		
	Ι	Μ
Warm-up		
1. Teaches warm-up which is specifically appropriate for the class		
Stimulus		
2. Incorporates proper progression of intensity		
3. Incorporates proper progression of complexity		
4. Gradually decreases the intensity of exercises prior to cool-down		
Cool-down		
5. Incorporates appropriate stretching in the cool-down		

Comments:

#2b: Safe Instruction Throughout the Class	#2b: Safe Instruction Throughout the Class					
¥	Ι	Μ	NA			
1. Teaches and demonstrates proper form and execution of exercises						
2. Corrects improper form/ execution of exercises						
3. Demonstrates (says or does) modifications given various levels of fitness						
4. Teaches exercises in an appropriate sequence and progression						
5. Avoids patterns/ combinations that can contribute to balance/ coordination problems						
6. Incorporates appropriate number of sets/ reps when teaching muscle strength/ endurance activities	2					
7. Incorporates exercises that utilize a variety of muscle groups						
8. Incorporates exercises that provide muscle balance						
9. Incorporates exercises to address muscles that are commonly tight and/ or weak						
10. Incorporates safe transitions, e.g., standing to non-standing						

Comments:

Cr	Criterion #3- Effective Teaching Methods						
		Ι	Μ				
1.	Uses simple command or cue words						
2.	Incorporates proper timing of command or cue words						
3.	Provides verbal encouragement/ positive feedback						
4.	Utilizes appropriate voice quality including projections, volume, and enunciation						
5.	Utilizes appropriate nonverbal communication						
6.	Uses appropriate music volume						

7.	Uses appropriate music tempo	
8.	Selects appropriate music	
9.	Teaches to the beat of the music; demonstrates proper rhythm	

Comments: _____

Criterion #1- Beginning of class conduct						
	Ι	Μ				
1. Welcomes everyone						
2. Encourages participants to exercise at own level						
Criterion #4- Interaction with Participants						
	Ι	Μ				
1. Establishes a positive rapport						
2. Incorporates humor appropriately						
3. Demonstrates enthusiasm						
4 Creates an enjoyable class						

Comments:

<u>1st Group Exercise Leader (GEL)</u>

- The GEL's age category is:
 □ young adult
 □ adult
- 2. The GEL's race is: □ White (non-Hispanic) □ Black (non-Hispanic) □ Hispanic □ Asian/ Pacific Islander
- 3. The GEL's gender is: \Box female \Box male
- 4. What is the GEL's body shape? Place a check under the correct number.

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9

Other GELs

- 1. How many other GELs fall into each age category? _____young adult _____adult
- 2. How many other GELs fall into each race category? <u>White (non-Hispanic)</u> Black (non-Hispanic) Hispanic Asian/ Pacific Islander

- 3. How many other GELs of each gender are there? _____female _____male
- 4. What were the other GELs body shapes? Record the number of each below.

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9

Heart Rate

- 1. What is your Resting Heart Rate?
- 2. What is your Target Heart Rate range for exercise? _____ to _____
- 3. ¹/₂ to ³/₄ of the way through the video when you feel that you're working hard, take your heart rate. If you find the workout gets harder, repeat. What is your max heart rate?

Cast Members

How many participants were there? (you will fill out their information later)

 $\square 0 \square 1 \square 2 \square 3 \square 4 \square 5 \square 6 \square 7 \square 8 \square 9 \square 10 \square 11 \square 12 \square 13 \square 14 +$

- 1. If there were more than 14 participants, what age category were they? □ all young □ all adult □ all senior □ mixed
- 2. If there were more than 14 participants, what race were they?
 □ all White (non-Hispanic)
 □ all Black (non-Hispanic)
 □ all Hispanic
 □ all Asian (Oriental)
 □ all from India
 □ all too difficult to discern
 □ mixed
- 3. If there were more than 14 participants, what gender were they? □ all women □ all men □ mixed
- 4. If there were more than 14 participants, what body shapes did they have? □ all lean □ all average □ all overweight □ mixed

The following section will be completed to individually assess Participants 1-14.

(From this portion on, the website designed for this data collection showed these pages according to the number of participants identified.)

Participant 1:

- 1. Participant 1's age category is:

 □ young adult
 □ adult

 □ senior
- 2. Participant 1 is:

□ White (non-Hispanic)	□ Black (non-Hispan	ic) 🗆 Hispanic
□ Asian (Chinese, Japanese)	🗆 from India	□ Too difficult to discern

3. Participant 1 looks like:





Pregnant

Appendix V: DVD Attributes Survey

Video Name/ ID#:	Year:

Length of Video (listed on DVD): _____

Group Exercise Leader(s)

1. Name of GEL(s):

2. What are the GEL's credentials? Check all that apply.

- □ Personal Trainer (PT)
- □ Aerobics Instructor (GEL)
- □ College
- □ ACSM
- □ ACE
- □ AFAA
- Dancer/ Dance Instructor
- □ Pilates
- Cooper Institute
- □ Martial Arts
- \Box Awards

Clothing

Describe the clothing worn by the GEL(s) and participants:
 □ Matching
 □ Unmatching

<u>Workout</u>

- 1. How long was the warm-up?
- 2. Was there stretching in the warm-up? □ Yes □ No
- 3. How long was the workout?
- 4. How long was the cool-down?
- 5. Was there stretching in the cool-down? □ Yes □ No

- 6. Were there floor exercises? \Box Yes \Box No
- 7. Did the instructor have the participants monitor their heart rates? \Box Yes \Box No
- 8. Did the instructor have the participants monitor their RPE? \Box Yes \Box No

Props

- 1. Were any of the following props used? If yes, please name them.
 - □ Weights
 - \Box Chair
 - $\hfill\square$ Resistance band
 - □ Step
 - □ Transfirmer
 - □ Mat
 - \Box Other

<u>Setting</u>

- 1. Describe the setting of the video:
- \square workout studio
- \Box the beach
- $\hfill\square$ normal home
- \square mansion
- \Box other

Appendix VI: DVDs Evaluated in this Investigation

- 1. 10 Minute Solutions- Workouts to Shape Up Your Whole Body
- 2. 10 Minute Solutions- Kickbox Bootcamp
- 3. Belly Dance fitness for weight loss- cardio shimmy
- 4. Belly Dance fitness for weight loss- Hip drop hip hop
- 5. Belly Dance fitness for weight loss- pure sweat
- 6. Belly Twins Belly Dance Core Conditioning with Neena and Veena
- 7. Belly Twins Indi-hop with Neena and Veena
- 8. Big Butts Hit the Beach
- 9. Billy Blanks- Ab Boot Camp
- 10. Billy Blanks- Basic Training Boot Camp
- 11. Billy Blanks- Fat Blasting Cardio
- 12. Billy Blanks Tae Bo Capture the Power- Strength and Power
- 13. Billy Blanks- Tae Bo Cardio Circuit 1 and 2
- 14. Billy Blanks- Tae Bo Contact 1
- 15. Billy Blanks- Tae Bo Foundation and energy
- 16. Billy Blanks- Tae Bo total Body Fat Blaster
- 17. Billy Blanks- Ultimate Boot Camp
- 18. Body Wisdom- Ultimate Body Beginning workouts for weight loss
- 19. Body Wisdom- Ultimate Body- Challenging Workouts for Weight Loss
- 20. Cardio Burn for Weight Loss/ Get Moving! Walking for Weight Loss
- 21. Cardio Pilates with Ana Caban
- 22. Carmen Electra's Lap Dance and Hip Hop- Disks 4 and 5
- 23. Cindy Crawford New Dimensions
- 24. Cindy Crawford The next challenge workout
- 25. Crunch Boot Camp training
- 26. Crunch Burn and Firm Pilates with Ellen Barrett
- 27. Crunch Cardio Dance Blast with Marie Forleo
- 28. Crunch Cardio Salsa
- 29. Crunch Fat Burning Ab Attack with Catherine Chiarelle
- 30. Crunch Fat Burning Dance Party
- 31. Dance off the Inches 15 Minute Express
- 32. Dance off the Inches Calorie Blasting Party
- 33. Debbie Siebers- Slim in 6- 6 week Body Slimming System
- 34. Denise Austin Blast Away the Pounds Indoor Walk
- 35. Denise Austin Burn Fat Fast Cardio Dance and Sculpt
- 36. Denise Austin Ultimate Fat Burner
- 37. Denise Austin- Blast Away 10 Pounds
- 38. Denise Austin -Personal Training System
- 39. Denise Austin Power Zone- The Ultimate Metabolism Boosting Workout
- 40. Double Pump Total Body
- 41. Extreme Makeover Fitness
- 42. Fat Burning Kickboxing Workout for Dummies
- 43. Fat Burning Workout For Dummies with Gay Gasper
- 44. Gilad- The New Best of Bodies in motions Abs workout

- 45. Goddess Workout Intro to belly dance for fitness
- 46. Goddess Workout- Veils
- 47. Goddess Workout- The Warrior Goddess
- 48. Hula Workout for beginners with Kili
- 49. Jane Fonda Collection Complete Personal Trainer series
- 50. Jane Fonda Collection Complete Workout and stress relief program
- 51. Jazzthetics Fitness
- 52. Jeff Costa's Cardio Striptease
- 53. Jillian Michaels- Cardio Kick Boxing
- 54. Jillian Michaels- Maximize
- 55. Jillian Michaels- Shape Up Complete Front and Backside
- 56. Karen Voight Ultimate step circuit
- 57. Karen Voight Calorie Burn
- 58. Karen Voight Energy Sprint
- 59. Karen Voight- Slim Physique
- 60. Kari Anderson- Go
- 61. Kari Anderson- Push
- 62. Kathy Kaehler Basics- Total Fitness Workout
- 63. Kathy Kaehler- Workout Class
- 64. Kathy Smith Fat burning breakthrough
- 65. Kathy Smith Latin Rhythm workout
- 66. Kathy Smith moving through menopause
- 67. Kathy Smith Personal Trainer Total Body Workout
- 68. Kathy Smith Power step
- 69. Kathy Smith the rules of fat burning
- 70. Kathy Smith Timesaver cardio fat burner
- 71. Kathy Smith Weight loss
- 72. Kathy Smith- Super Slimdown Circuit
- 73. Kathy Smith's Step Workout
- 74. Keeping fit in your 50s- Aerobics
- 75. Kick Butt- Push Pull and steamin cardio
- 76. Latin Grooves: Workout
- 77. Leslie Sansone- 2 mile Walk
- 78. Leslie Sansone- Deluxe walk aerobics
- 79. Leslie Sansone- Special Edition Fat Burning Walk- 2 miles
- 80. Leslie Sansone- Fat Burning Walk- 4 miles
- 81. Leslie Sansone- Miracle Mile Walk
- 82. Leslie Sansone- Muscle Mile One
- 83. Leslie Sansone- Older adults walk & firm
- 84. Leslie Sansone- Power Mile
- 85. Leslie Sansone- The Walk Diet 1 and 2 miles
- 86. Leslie Sansone- Walk aerobics for Seniors
- 87. Leslie Sansone- Walk Away the pounds
- 88. Leslie Sansone- Walk Away the Pounds Super Fat Burning 3 Miles
- 89. Leslie Sansone- Walk Away the Pounds Express- Super Challenge 4 mile
- 90. Leslie Sansone- Walk & Jog

- 91. Leslie Sansone- Walk & Kick
- 92. Leslie Sansone- Walk Strong
- 93. Mia St. John Million Dollar Workout
- 94. MissFit
- 95. Paul Abdul Cardio Dance
- 96. Prevention- Dance it Off With Jennifer Galardie
- 97. Prevention- Fitness Systems 3-2-1 Workout
- 98. Prevention- Walk your way slim
- 99. Quickfix- Cardio Hip-Hop Workout
- 100. Dance Fitness for Beginners- Daily Quickies- 10 minute workouts
- 101. Richard Simmons and the Silver Foxes
- 102. SELF- Slim and Sleek Fast
- 103. Shape Cardio Workout: Bikini Body All Year-Round
- 104. Shape Your Butt, Hips, and Thighs
- 105. Stott Pilates The Secret To Weight Loss Volume 1
- 106. Sweating in the Spirit- Donna Richardson
- 107. The Biggest Loser Workout
- 108. The Firm- The Transfirmer Series- Ultimate Calorie Blaster
- 109. The Firm- Aerobic Body Shaping
- 110. The Method- AfroBrazilian cardio
- 111. The Method- Cardio Bootcamp
- 112. The Method- Cardio Flex Band Workout
- 113. The Method- Dance to Fitness
- 114. The Method- Pilates All in One Workout
- 115. The New Method 20/20- Cardio Kick
- 116. Tighter Assets- Cardio Blast- Tamilee Webb
- 117. Tighter Assets- Weight Loss- Tamilee Webb
- 118. Trainer's Edge- Cardio Interval Training with Petra Kolber
- 119. Ultimate Body Makeover with Frederique
- 120. Urban Heat- Hip Hop Workout
- 121. Victoria Johnson- Cardio Dance Jam
- 122. Victoria Johnson- Cardio Dance Party
- 123. Walk it Off With George Circuit Walk
- 124. Walk it Off with George Walk and Box

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Palmer DM, Ryan KM. Formative assessment of physical activity interests and barriers in limited-resource adults. *FASEB Journal*. 2008;22:680.
- 2. Levine, JA. Non-exercise activity thermogenesis (NEAT). *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2002 Dec; 16(4):679-702.
- 3. Speigelman BM, Flier JS. Obesity and the regulation of energy balance. *Cell*. 2001;104:531-543.
- 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report. 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines website. http://www.health.gov/PAGuidelines/Report/pdf/CommitteeReport.pdf. Accessed October 14, 2008.
- 2005 Dietary Guidelines for Americans committee report. 2005 Dietary Guidelines for Americans website. http://www.health.gov/dietaryguidelines/dga2005/report/default.htm. Accessed October 14, 2008.
- 6. Jones DA, Ainsworth BE, Croft JB, Macera CA, Lloyd EE, Yusuf HR. Moderate leisure-time activity. Who is meeting the public health recommendations? A national cross-sectional study. *Arch Fam Med.* 1998;7:285-289.
- 7. Yeager KK, Macera CA, Merritt RK. Socioeconomic influences on leisure time sedentary behavior among women. *Health Values*. 1993;17:50-54.
- 8. Crespo CJ, Smit E, Andersen RE, Carter-Pokras C, Ainsworth, BE. Race/ethnicity, social class, and their relation to physical inactivity during leisure time: Results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. *Am J Prevent Med*. 2000;18(1):46-53.
- 9. Mokdad AH, Bowman BA, Ford ES, Vinicor F, Marks JS, Koplan JP. The Continuing Epidemics of Obesity and Diabetes in the United States. *JAMA*. 2001;286:1195-1200.
- 10. Early release of selected estimates based on data from the 2002 National Health Interview Survey. Centers for Disease Control Website. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhis/earlyrelease/200306_07.pdf. Accessed 4/5/09.
- 11. DATA2010: the Healthy People 2010 Database. Healthy People 2010 website. http://wonder.cdc.gov/data2010. Accessed March 20, 2008.
- 12. Healthy People 2010: understanding and improving health. Healthy People 2010 Website. http://www.healthypeople.gov/Document/tableofcontents.htm#Volume2. Accessed 3/18/09.
- 13. American College of Sports Medicine. The recommended quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory and muscular fitness and flexibility in healthy adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1998;30:975-991.
- 14. American College of Sports Medicine. Position stand of the ACSM: appropriate physical activity intervention for weight loss and prevention of weight regain for adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2009;41(2);459-471.
- 15. McKay HG, King D, Eakin EG, Seeley JR, Glasgow RE. The Diabetes Network Internet-Based Physical Activity Intervention. *Diabetes Care*. 2001;24:1328-1334.
- Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System: prevalence and trends data, overweight and obesity (BMI)- 2007. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Website. http://apps.nccd.cdc.gov/brfss/list.asp?cat=OB&yr=2007&qkey=4409&state=All. Accessed 3/18/09.
- 17. Mokdad, AH. Prevalence of Obesity, Diabetes, and Obesity-Related Health Risk Factors. *JAMA*. 2001;289:76-79.
- Galuska DA, Gillespie C, Kuester SA, Mokdad AH, Cogswell ME, Phillip CM. MMWR. 2008;57(28):765-768.
- 19. Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Johnson CL. Prevalence and Trends in Obesity Among U.S. Adults, 1999- 2000. *JAMA*. 2002;288:1723-1727.
- 20. Early release of selected estimates based on data from the January-March 2008 National Health Interview Survey. Centers for Disease Control Website. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhis/earlyrelease/200809_06.pdf. Accessed 4/5/09.
- 21. Klesges RC, Klesges LM, Haddock CK, Eck LH. A longitudinal analysis of the impact of dietary intake and physical activity on weight change in adults. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2002;55: 818-822.
- 22. Jeffery RW, French SA. Preventing weight gain in adults: the pound of prevention study. *Am J Pub Health*. 1999; 89:747-751.
- 23. Ross R, Dagnone D, Jones PJH, Smith H, Paddags A, Hudson R, Janssen I. Reduction in obesity and related comorbid conditions after diet-induced weight loss or exercise-induced weight loss in men. *Ann Intern Med.* 2000;133:92-103.
- 24. Garrow JS, Summerbell CD. Meta-analysis: effect of exercise, with or without dieting, on the body composition of overweight subjects. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 1995;49:1-10.
- 25. National Institutes of Health and National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Clinical guidelines on the identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults. *The Evidence Report on Obesity Res.* 1998;6(2):51S- 209S.
- 26. Clarke KK, Freeland-Graves J, Klohe-Lehman DM, Milani TJ, Nuss HJ, Laffrey S. Promotion of physical activity in low-income mothers using pedometers. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2007 Jun;107(6):962-967.
- 27. McNabb W, Quinn M, Kerver J, Cook S, Karrison T. The PATHWAYS churchbased weight loss program for urban African American women at risk for diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 1997;20(10):1518-1523.
- 28. Yanek LR, Becker DM, Moy TF, Gittelsohn J, Koffman DM. Project Joy: faith based cardiovascular health promotion for African American women. *Public Health Rep.* 2001;116(1):68-81.
- 29. Jakicic JM, Winters C, Lang W, Wing RR. Fitness in Overweight Women: A randomized trial exercise equipment on adherence, weight loss, and effects of intermittent exercise and use of home. *JAMA*. 1999;282(16):1554-1560.
- 30. Pronk NP, Wing RR. Physical activity and long-term maintenance of weight loss. *Obes Res.* 1994;2:587-599.
- 31. Jakicic JM, Wing RR, Butler BA, Robertson RJ. Prescribing exercise in multiple short bouts versus one continuous bout. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 1995;19:893-901.

- 32. Tate DF, Jeffery RW, Sherwood NE, Wing RR. Long-term weight losses associated with prescription of higher physical activity goals. Are higher levels of physical activity protective against weight regain? *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2007 Apr;85(4):954-959.
- Jeffrey RW, Epstein LH, Wilson GT, Drewnowski A, Stunkard AJ, Wing RR. Long-term maintenance of weight loss: current status. *Health Psychol*. 2000;19:5-16.
- 34. Saris WHM. Fit, fat, and fat-free: the metabolic aspects of weight control. *Int J Obes*. 1998;22(2):S15-S21.
- 35. Mei Z, Grummer-Strawn LM, Pietrobelli A, Goulding A, Goran MI, Dietz WH. Validity of body mass index compared with other body-composition screening indexes for the assessment of body fatness in children and adolescents. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2002 Jun;75(6):978-985.
- 36. Garrow JS and Webster J. Quetelet's index (W/H2) as a measure of fatness. *Int J Obes*. 1985;9:147-153.
- National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Obesity Education Initiative. National Heart Lung, and Blood Institute Website. http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/public/heart/obesity/lose_wt/risk.htm. Accessed 3/10/09.
- 38. Lee I, Rexrode K, Cook N, Manson J, Buring J. Physical activity and coronary heart disease in women: is no pain, no gain passe? *JAMA*. 2001;285:1447-1454.
- 39. Manson JE, Greenland P, Lacroix AZ, et al. Walking compared with vigorous exercise for the prevention of cardiovascular events in women. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;347:716-725.
- 40. Physical activity and cardiovascular health fact sheet. American Heart Association website. http://www.americanheart.org/presenter.jhtml?identifier=820. Accessed November 5, 2008.
- 41. Whelton SP, Chin A, Xin X, He J. Effect of aerobic exercise on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trails. *Ann Int Med.* 2002;136:493-503.
- 42. Heart disease. US Department of Health and Human Services women's health website. http://www.4women.gov/faq/heart-disease.cfm#d. Accessed November 6, 2008.
- 43. Leon AS. Age and other predictors of coronary heart disease. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1987;19(2):159-167.
- 44. Williams PT. Vigorous exercise, fitness, and incident hypertension, high cholesterol, and diabetes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2008;40(6):998-1006.
- 45. Katzmarzyk PT, Gagnon J, Leon AS, Skinner JS, Wilmore JS, Rao DC, Bouchard DE. Fitness, fatness, and estimated coronary heart disease risk: the HERITAGE Family Study. *Med Sci Sports* Exerc. 1991;33(4):585-590.
- 46. Cutler JA, Sorlie PD, Wolz M, Thom T, Fields LE, Roccella EJ. Trends in hypertension prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control rates in United States adults between 1988-1994 and 1999-2004. *Hypertension*. 2008;52;818-827.
- 47. Carroll JF, Kyser CK. Exercise training in obesity lowers blood pressure independent of weight change. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2002;34(4):596-601.
- 48. American College of Sports Medicine Position Stand on Exercise and Hypertension. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2004;533-553.

- 49. Berg A, Frey I, Baumstark MW, Halle M, Keul J. Physical activity and lipoprotein lipid disorders. *Sports Med.* 17:6-21, 1994.
- 50. Williams PT, Krauss RM, Wood PD, Lindgren FT, Giotas C, Vranizan KM. Lipoprotein subfractions of runners and sedentary men. *Metab.* 1986;35:45-52.
- 51. Laaksonen DE, Atalay M, Niskanen LK, Mustonen J, Sen CK, Lakka TA, Uusitupa MI. Aerobic exercise and the lipid profile in type 1 diabetic men: a randomized controlled trial. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2000;32(9):1541-1548.
- 52. Després JP, Pouliot MC, Moorjani S, Nadeau A, Tremblay A, Lupien PJ, Thériault G, Bouchard C. Loss of abdominal fat and metabolic response to exercise training in obese women. *Am J Physiol*. 1991;261:E159–E167.
- 53. Durstine JL, Haskell WL. Effects of exercise training on plasma lipids and lipoproteins. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 1994;22:477–521.
- 54. Hardman AE. Physical activity, obesity and blood lipids. *Int J Obes*. 1999;23(suppl 3):S64–S71.
- Cholesterol ratio. American Heart Association website. http://www.americanheart.org/presenter.jhtml?identifier=4503. Accessed December 4, 2008.
- 56. Lee CD, Blair SN, Jackson AS. Cardiorespiratory fitness, body composition, and all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality in men. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1999;69:373-380.
- 57. Harris MI. Classification, diagnostic criteria, and screening for diabetes. *Diabetes in America*. 1995;95(1468):15-36.
- 58. Hubinger A, Franzen A, Gries A. Hormonal and metabolic response to physical exercise in hyperinsulinemic and nonhyperinsulinemic type 2 diabetics. *Diabetes Res.* 1987;4:57-61.
- 59. Koivisto VA, Defronzo RA. Exercise in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Acta Endocrinol.* 1984;262(Suppl. 2):107-111.
- 60. Minuk HL, Vranic M, Marliss EB, Hanna AK, Albisser AL, Zinman B. Glucoregulatory and metabolic response to exercise in obese non-insulin-dependent diabetes. *Am J Physiol.* 1981;240:E458-E464.
- 61. Burstein R, Esptein Y, Shapiro Y, Cahruzi I, Karnieli E. Effect of an acute bout of exercise on glucose disposal in human obesity. *J Appl Physiol*. 1990;69:299-304.
- 62. Caro JF, Dohm LG, Pories WJ, Sinha MK. Cellular alterations in liver, skeletal muscle, and adipose tissue responsible for insulin resistance in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes/Metab Rev.* 1989;5:665-689.
- 63. Arciero PJ, Vukovich MD, Holloszy JO, Racette SB, Kohrt WM. Comparison of short-term diet and exercise on insulin action in individuals with abnormal glucose tolerance. *J Appl Physiol.* 1999;86(6):1930–1935.
- 64. What is exercise? American Diabetes Association website. http://www.diabetes.org/food-nutrition-lifestyle/fitness/get-motivated/what-isexercise.jsp. Accessed on November 6, 2008.
- 65. American College of Sports Medicine. Position stand of the ACSM: exercise and type 2 diabetes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2000;32(7):1345-1360.
- 66. Katzmarzyk PT, Leon AS, Wilmore JS, Skinner JS, Rao DC, Rankinen T, Bouchard C. Targeting the Metabolic Syndrome with Exercise: Evidence from the HERITAGE Family Study. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2003;35(10)1703-1709.

- 67. Watkins LL, Sherwood A, Feinglos M, Hinderliter A, Babyak M, Gullette E, Waugh R, Blumenthal JA. Effects of Exercise and Weight Loss on Cardiac Risk Factors Associated With Syndrome X. *Arch Intern Med.* 2003;163:1889-1895.
- Diet and Physical Activity: What's the Cancer Connection? American Cancer Society website. http://www.cancer.org/docroot/PED/content/PED_3_1x_Link_Between_Lifestyle_ and CancerMarch03.asp. Accessed November 6, 2008.
- 69. Cancer Facts and Figures 2008. American Cancer Society website. http://www.cancer.org/downloads/STT/2008CAFFfinalsecured.pdf. Accessed November 19, 2008.
- Schwartz AL, Mori M, Gao R, Nail LM, King ME. Exercise reduces daily fatigue in women with breast cancer receiving chemotherapy. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2000;33(5):718-723.
- 71. Courneya KS, Friedenreich CM. Relationship between exercise during treatment and current quality of life among survivors of breast cancer. *J Psychosoc Oncol.* 1997;15:35-57.
- 72. Kolden GG, Strauman TJ, Ward A, et al. A pilot study of group exercise training (GET) for women with primary breast cancer: feasibility and health benefits. *J Psychosoc Oncol.* 2002;11:447-456.
- 73. Schwartz AL. Daily fatigue patterns and effect of exercise in women with breast cancer. *Cancer Pract.* 2000;8:16-24.
- 74. Osteoporosis: what is it? National Osteoporosis Foundation website. http://www.nof.org/osteoporosis/index.htm. Accessed November 19, 2008.
- 75. Bailey DA. The Saskatchewan pediatric bone mineral accrual study: bone mineral acquisition during the growing years. *Int J Sports Med.* 1997; 3(Suppl 18):S191-S194.
- Chubak J, Ulrich CM, Tworoger TS, Sorensen B, Yasui Y, Irwin ML, Stanczyk KZ, Potter ND, McTiernan A. Effect of Exercise on Bone Mineral Density and Lean Mass in Postmenopausal Women. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2006;38(7):1236-1244.
- 77. ACSM Position Stand on Physical Activity and Bone Health. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2004;36(11):1985-1996.
- 78. Heaney RP, Abrams S, Dawson-Hughes B, Looker A, Marcus R, Matkovic V, Weaver C. Peak bone mass. *Osteoporos Int*. 2000;11(12):985-1009.
- 79. Fox KR. The influence of physical activity on mental well-being. *Public Health Nutr.* 1999;2:411-418.
- 80. Paluska SA, Schwenk TL. Physical activity and mental health: current concepts. *Sports Med.* 2000;29:167-180.
- 81. Dunn AL, Trivedi MH, O'Neal H. Physical activity dose-response effects on outcomes of depression and anxiety. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2001;33:S587-97.
- 82. Lawlor DA, Hopker SW. The effectiveness of exercise as an intervention in the management of depression: systematic review and meta-regression analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ*. 2001;322:763-767.
- 83. Brown WJ, Ford JH, Burton NW, Marshall AL, Dobson AJ. Prospective study of physical activity and depressive symptoms in middle-aged women. *Am J Prev Med*. 2005;29(4):265-272.

- 84. Healthy People 2010 Physical Activity Objectives. Healthy People 2010 Objectives Website. http://www.healthypeople.gov/Document/HTML/Volume2/22Physical.htm#_Toc49 0380800. Accessed 1/17/09.
- 85. Farmer ME, Locke BZ, Moscicki EK, Dannenberg AL, Larson DB, Radloff LS. Physical activity and depressive symptoms: the NHANES I epidemiologic followup Study. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1988;128:1340-51.
- StrawbridgeWJ, Deleger S, Roberts RE, Kaplan GA. Physical activity reduces the risk of subsequent depression for older adults. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2002;156(4):328-334.
- 87. Weyerer S. Physical inactivity and depression in the community: evidence from the upper Bavarian field study. *Int J Sports Med.* 1992;13:492-496.
- 88. Sinyor D, Brown T, Rostant L, Seraganian P. The role of a physical fitness program in the treatment of alcoholism. *J Stud Alcohol*. 1982;43:380-386.
- 89. Marcus BH, Albrecht AE, King TK, Parisi AF, Pinto BM, Roberts M, Niaura RS, Abrams DB. The efficacy of exercise as an aid for smoking cessation in women. *Arch Intern Med.* 1999;159:1229-1234.
- 90. Marcus BH, Albrecht AE, Niaura RS, Taylor ER, Simkin LR, Feder SI, Abrams DB, Thompson PD. Exercise enhances the maintenance of smoking cessation in women. *Addict Behav.* 1995;20(1):87-92.
- Taylor CB, Houston-Miller N, Haskell WL, DeBusk RF. Smoking cessation after acute myocardial infarction: the effects of exercise training. *Addict Behav*. 1988;13:331-335.
- 92. Hill JS. Effect of a program of aerobic exercise on the smoking behavior of a group of adult volunteers. *Can J Public Health*. 1985;76:183-186.
- 93. Kremer D, Malkin MJ, Benshoff JJ. Physical activity programs offered in substance abuse treatment facilities. *J Substance Abuse Treatment*. September-October 1995;12(5):327-333.
- American College of Sports Medicine. ACSM's Resource Manual for guidelines for exercise testing and prescription, 5th edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2006.
- 95. About ACSM. The American College of Sports Medicine website. http://www.acsm.org/AM/Template.cfm?Section=About_ACSM. Accessed August 11, 2008.
- 96. Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, Powell KE, Blair SN, Franklin BA, Macera CA, Heath GW, Thompson PD, Bauman A. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2007;116:1-13.
- Hartig DE, Henderson JM. Increasing hamstring flexibility decreases lower extremity overuse injuries in military basic trainees. *Am J Sport Med.* 1999; 27:173-176.
- 98. Shrier, I. Stretching before exercise does not reduce the risk of local muscle injury: a critical review of the clinical and basic science literature. *Clin J Sports Med.* 1999;9:221–227.
- 99. Herbert RD, Gabriel M. Effects of stretching before and after exercising on muscle soreness and risk of injury: a systematic review. *Br Med J*. 2002;325:468-470.

- 100. Buroker KC, Schwane JA. Does postexercise static stretching alleviate delayed muscle soreness? *Physician Sportsmed*. 1989;17:65-83.
- Pope RP, Herbert RD, Kirwan JD, Graham BJ. A randomized trial of preexercise stretching for prevention of lower-limb injury. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2000;32(2):271-277.
- Funk D, Swank AM, Adams KJ, Treolo D. Efficacy of moist heat pack application over static stretching on hamstring flexibility. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2001;15:123-126.
- 103. Hurley CL, Kozey JW, Stanish WD. The effects of static stretching exercises and stationary cycling on range of motion at the hip joint. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*. 1984;8:104-109.
- Wiemann K, Hahn K. Influences of strength, stretching and circulatory exercises on flexibility parameters of the human hamstrings. *Int J Sports Med.* 1997 Jul;18(5):340-346.
- 105. Safran MR, Seaber AV, Garret WE. Warm-up and muscular injury prevention: an update. *Sports Med.* 8:239-249, 1989.
- 106. Bracko MR. Can stretching prior to exercise and sports improve performance and prevent injury? Health Fit J. 2002;6:17-21.
- 107. Thacker SB, Gilchrist J, Stroup DF, Kimsey CD. The impact of stretching on sports injury risk: a systematic review of the literature. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2004 Mar;36(3):371-378.
- 108. Bandy WD, Irion JM. The effect of time on static stretch on the flexibility of the hamstring muscles. *Phys Ther*. 1994;74:845-852.
- Chan SP, Hong Y, Robinson PD. Flexibility and passive resistance of the hamstrings of young adults using two different static stretching protocols. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2001;11:81-86.
- 110. Feland JB, Myrer JW, Schulthies SS, et al. The effect of duration of stretching the hamstring muscle group for increasing range of motion in people aged 65 years or older. *Phys Ther.* 2001;81:1110-1117.
- 111. American College of Sports Medicine. The recommended quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory and muscular fitness and flexibility in healthy adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1998;30:975-991.
- 112. Cornelius, W. L., K. Ebrahim, J. Watson, and D. W. Hill. The effects of cold application and modified PNF stretching techniques on hip joint flexibility in college males. *Res Q Exerc Sport*. 1992;63:311-314.
- Shellock FG. Physiological benefits of warmup. *Physician Sportmed*. 1983;11:134-139.
- 114. Safran MR, Garret WE, Seaber AV, Glisson R, Ribbeck BM. The role of warmup in muscular injury prevention. *Am. J Sports Med.* 1988;16:123-129.
- 115. How much physical activity do I need? Centers for Disease Control Website. http://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/everyone/guidelines/adults.html. Accessed 3/18/09.
- 116. Murphy MH, Blair SN, Murtagh EM. Accumulated versus continuous exercise for health benefit: a review of empirical studies. *Sports Med.* 2009;39(1):29-43.
- 117. Macfarlane DJ, Taylor LH, Cuddihy TF. Very short intermittent vs. continuous bouts of activity in sedentary adults. *Prev Med.* 2006 Oct;43(4):332-336.

- 118. Exercise: a guide from the National Institute on Aging. National Institutes of Health Website. http://www.nia.nih.gov/HealthInformation/Publications/ExerciseGuide/chapter07.ht m. Accessed 3/15/09.
- 119. American Council on Exercise group fitness instructor manual: a guide for fitness professionals, 2nd ed. 2007.
- 120. Eickhoff-Shemek JM, Selde S. Evaluating group exercise leader performance: an easy and helpful tool. *ACSM's Health & Fitness Journal*. 2006;10:20-23.
- 121. Kahn EB, Ramsey LT, Brownson RC, Heath GW, Howze EH, Powell KE, Stone EJ, Rajab MW, Corso P. The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity: A systematic review. *Am J Prev Med*. 2002 May;22(4):73-107.
- 122. King A, Rejeski WJ, Buchner DM. Physical activity interventions targeting older adults: a critical review and recommendations. *Am J Prev Med.* 1998 Nov;15(4):316-333.
- 123. Hillsdon M, Thorogood M, Anstiss T, Morris J. Randomised controlled trials of physical activity promotion in free living populations: a review. *J Epidemiol Comm Health*. 1995;49:448-453.
- 124. Dunn AL, Andersen RE, Jakicic JM. Lifestyle physical activity interventions: history, short- and long-term effects, and recommendations. Am J Prev Med. 1998 Nov;15(4):398-412.
- 125. Chen AH, Sallis JF, Castro CM, Lee RE, Hickmann SA, William C, Martin JE. A home-based behavioral intervention to promote walking in sedentary ethnic minority women: Project WALK. *Women's Health*. 1998;4(1):19-39.
- 126. Whitehead D, Bodenlos JS, Cowles ML, Jones GN, Brantley PJ. A stage-targeted physical activity intervention among a predominantly African-American low-income primary care population. *Am J Health Promot.* 2007;21(3):160-163.
- 127. Juneau M, Rogers F, De Santos V, Yee M, Evans A, Bohn A, Haskell WL, Taylor CB, DeBusk RF. Effectiveness of self-monitored, home-based, moderate-intensity exercise training in middle-aged men and women. *Am J Cardiol.* 1987;60:66-70.
- 128. Avila P, Hovell MF. Physical activity training for weight loss in Latinas: a controlled trial. *Int J Obes.* 1994;18:476-482.
- 129. Kanders BS, Ullman-Joy P, Foreyt JP, et al. The Black American Lifestyle Intervention (BALI): the design of a weight loss program for working class African-American women. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 1994;94(3):310-312.
- Brownson RC, Smith CA, Pratt M, et al. Preventing cardiovascular disease through community-based risk reduction: The Bootheel Heart Health Project. *Am J Public Health.* 1996;86(2):206-213.
- 131. Kanders BS, Ullman-Joy P, Foreyt JP, et al. The Black American Lifestyle Intervention (BALI): the design of a weight loss program for working class African-American women. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 1994;94(3):310-312.
- 132. Kumanyika SK, Charleston JB. Lose weight and win: A church-based weight loss program for blood pressure control among black women. *Patient Educ Couns*. 1992;19:19-32.
- 133. Lasco RA, Curry RH, Dickson VJ, Powers J, Menes S, Merritt RK. Participation rates, weight loss, and blood pressure changes among obese women in a nutrition/exercise program. *Public Health Rep.* 1989;104(6):640-646.

- 134. Lewis CE, Raczynski JM, Heath GW, Levinson R, Hilyer JC, Cutter GR. Promoting physical activity in low-income African-American communities: The PARR Project. *Ethnicity and Disease*. 1993;3:106-118.
- Kaul L, Nidiry JJ. Management of obesity in low-income African Americans. J Natl Med Assoc. 1999 Mar;91(3):139-43.
- 136. Jenum AK, Anderssen SA, Birkeland KI, Holme I, Graff-Iversen S, Lorentzen C, Ommundsen Y, Raastad T, Odegaard AK, Bahr R. Promoting Physical Activity in a low-income multiethnic district: effects of a community intervention study to reduce risk factors for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29:1605-1612.
- 137. Karanja N, Stevens VJ, Hollis JF, Kumanyika SK. Steps to soulful living (steps): a weight loss program for African-American women. *Ethn Dis.* 2002 Summer;12(3):363-371.
- 138. Contento I, Balch GI, Bronner YL, Paige DM, Gross SM, Bisagnani L, Lytle LA, Maloney SK, Olson CM, Sharaga Swadener S. The effectiveness of nutrition education and implications for nutrition education policy, programs, and research: A review of research. J Nutr Educ. 1995;27:312-328.
- 139. Banks-Wallace J, Conn V. Changes in steps per day over the course of a pilot walking intervention. *ABNF J*. 2005 Mar-Apr;16(2):28-32.
- Ryan K, Adler A, Palmer D. Aerobic exercise DVDs' potential for use among diverse limited-resource audiences: A Preliminary Assessment. J Nutr Educ Behav. 2008;40(4):S34.
- 141. Thompson MA, Gray JJ. Development and validation of a new body-image assessment scale. *Journal of Personality Assessment*. 1995;64(2):258-269.
- 142. Borg GA. Psychological basis of physical exertion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1982;14:377.
- 143. Pulvers KM, Lee RE, Kaur H, Mayo MS, Fitzgibbon ML, Jeffries SK, Butler J, Hou Q, Ahluwalia JS. Development of a culturally relevant body image instrument among urban African Americans. *Obesity Research*. 2004;12(10):1641-1651.
- 144. Robertson RJ, Noble BJ. Perception of physical exertion: methods, mediators, and applications. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 1997;25:407-452.
- Martin KA, Hausenblas HA. Psychological commitment to exercise and eating disorder symptomatology among female aerobic instructors. *Sport Psychologist*. 1998;12:180-190.
- 146. Greenleaf C, McGreer R, Parham H. Physique attitudes and self-presentational concerns: exploratory interviews with female group aerobic exercisers and instructors. *Sex Roles.* 2006;54:189-199.
- Rucker CE, Cash TF. Body Images, Body-Size Perceptions, and Eating Behaviors Among African-American and White College Women. *Int J Eat Disord*. 1992;12(3):291-299.
- Becker DM, Yanek LR, Koffman DM, et al. Body image preferences among urban African-American and Whites from low income communities. *Ethn Dis.* 1999;9(3):377-386.
- 149. Powell AD, Kahn AS. Racial differences in women's desires to be thin. *Int J Eat Disord.* 1995;17(2):191-195.
- 150. Decoster LC, Scanlon RL, Horn KD, Cleland J. Standing and supine hamstring stretching are equally effective. *J Athl Train*. 2004;39(4):330-334.